ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Constraining extended cosmologies with GW×LSS cross-correlations

M. Bosi,^{*a*} N. Bellomo^{*b*} and A. Raccanelli^{*a*,*c*,*d*,*e*}

^aDipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia G. Galilei, Università degli Studi di Padova, via F. Marzolo 8, I-35131 Padova, Italy
^bTexas Center for Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, Weinberg Institute, Department of Physics, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX 78712, U.S.A.
^cINFN, Sezione di Padova, via F. Marzolo 8, I-35131 Padova, Italy
^dINAF — Osservatorio Astronomico di Padova, Vicolo dell'Osservatorio 5, I-35122 Padova, Italy
^eTheoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1 Esplanade des Particules, 1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland E-mail: michele.bosi@studenti.unipd.it, nicola.bellomo@austin.utexas.edu, alvise.raccanelli.1@unipd.it

Received June 18, 2023 Revised September 19, 2023 Accepted October 12, 2023 Published November 24, 2023

Abstract. The rapid development of gravitational wave astronomy provides the unique opportunity of exploring the dynamics of the Universe using clustering properties of coalescing binary black hole mergers. Gravitational wave data, along with information coming from future galaxy surveys, have the potential of shedding light about many open questions in Cosmology, including those regarding the nature of dark matter and dark energy. In this work we explore which combination of gravitational wave and galaxy survey datasets are able to provide the best constraints both on modified gravity theories and on the nature of the very same binary black hole events. In particular, by using the public Boltzmann code Multi_CLASS, we compare cosmological constraints on popular ACDM extensions coming from gravitational waves alone and in conjunction with either deep and localized or wide and shallow galaxy surveys. We show that constraints on extensions of General Relativity will be at the same level of existing limits from gravitational waves alone or one order of magnitude better when galaxy surveys are included. Furthermore, cross-correlating both kind of galaxy survey with gravitational waves datasets will allow to confidently rule in or out primordial black holes as dark matter candidate in the majority of the allowed parameter space.

Keywords: galaxy clustering, gravitational waves / theory, modified gravity, primordial black holes

ArXiv ePrint: 2306.03031

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by IOP Publishing Ltd on behalf of Sissa Medialab. Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

Contents

1	1 Introduction					
2	 Formalism and methodology 2.1 Clustering statistics 2.2 Fisher matrix analysis 	2 2 4				
	2.3 Cosmological model	5				
3	Tracers	7				
	3.1 Galaxy surveys	8				
	3.2 Astrophysical black hole binaries	9				
	3.3 Late time primordial black hole binaries	9				
	3.4 Early time primordial black hole binaries	10				
	3.5 Complete black hole binary population	11				
4	Testing extended cosmologies	13				
	4.1 Constraints on modified gravity theories	13				
	4.2 Constraints on black hole origin	15				
5	Conclusions	17				
\mathbf{A}	Number count contributions	19				
в	3 Implementation of Modified Gravity models in Multi_CLASS 19					
С	Gravitational wave detector networks	20				
D	Late time primordial black hole binary formation	23				
	D.1 Late time binaries	23				
	D.1.1 Dark matter halos	24				
	D.1.2 Direct capture process	25				
\mathbf{E}	Optimistic cross-correlation constraints	27				
\mathbf{F}	Mixed black hole population for second generation detectors	27				

1 Introduction

The ACDM, i.e., the cosmological Standard Model, passed numerous tests and provided a convincing explanation for the physics behind many cosmological observables, both from the early [1] and late Universe [2–4]. However, some tensions are still present [5], and a deeper investigation might in fact reveal hints of so-called new physics.

One potential avenue to investigate these tensions is to include in the analysis new and independent datasets. In this respect, gravitational waves (GWs) present the unprecedented opportunity to explore the properties and evolution of the Universe in a completely new fashion, complementary to that of more traditional cosmological probes. Thanks to the extraordinary effort of the GW community, we have already detected almost a hundred GW events [6–8], and the number is expected to rapidly grow for every future LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA Collaboration run. Moreover, once next generation GW observatories like Einstein Telescope [9] (ET) and Cosmic Explorer [10] (CE) will start operating during the next decade, the number of detected events per year will be of order $\mathcal{O}(10^4-10^5)$, allowing for the unprecedented opportunity to map the entire sky using GWs.

Similarly to electromagnetic radiation, GWs carry information about the sources generating them, the environment where these sources reside and about the Universe the gravitational radiation travelled across. In this work we show how combining GW and Large Scale Structure (LSS) datasets we can extract both astrophysical and cosmological information, shedding light both on the nature of dark matter and gravity.

In recent years, Primordial Black Holes (PBHs) emerged as a possible candidate to make up a non-negligible fraction of the dark matter. PBHs are (still hypothetical) black holes that — in the most standard scenario — formed in the early Universe before big bang nucleosynthesis, deep in the radiation-dominated era [11–14], and since they are not generated through a stellar process, they can span a wide range of masses. In particular, if PBH masses are larger than $M_{\rm PBH} \gtrsim 10^{-18} M_{\odot}$, their present day abundance can account for a fraction or even the totality of dark matter [15, 16]. Moreover, similarly to astrophysical BHs, PBHs can form binaries and be detected by present and future ground-based GW observatories if they have masses of order $\mathcal{O}(1-10^2) M_{\odot}$. However, PBH binaries (and their relative GW signal) are expected to trace LSS differently from binaries of astrophysical BHs, providing a potential way to infer the nature of the binary constituents [17–19].

On the other hand, assuming that GWs are generated exclusively by astrophysical sources, we can use their anisotropic distribution to test General Relativity and its extensions [19–34]. Despite observational evidence seems to prefer Λ CDM over alternative models [35], the Modified Gravity (MG) community has proposed several theoretical models that extend General Relativity in an effort to explain the accelerated expansion of the Universe [36–38]. Present and future LSS surveys plan to further tighten constraints on extension of General Relativity [39–50], hence it is extremely timely to investigate how new probes can join this effort.

In this work we study if galaxy surveys, deep and localized (DL), or shallow and wide (SW), are suited for extracting cosmological information in combination with GW datasets. On the GW side, we consider binaries made of either astrophysical or primordial BHs detected by second and third generation detectors. The GW events are modeled using the external modules of CLASS_GWB [51], while the galaxy and GW clustering signal is computed by extending the Multi_CLASS [52, 53] Boltzmann code¹ to account for modified gravity models.

¹The code is publicly available at https://github.com/nbellomo/Multi_CLASS.

We show that both kinds of survey we consider will be effective in constraining different extensions of the ACDM model. Regarding the modified gravity/dark energy sector, we show that common extensions of General Relativity like scalar-tensor theories or nDGP models can be constrained by GW alone using only linear scales, obtaining limits comparable to current ones, in a completely independent way and without relying on non-linearity modeling. When cross-correlating with galaxy surveys, constraints improve by almost an order of magnitude, in similar ways for the dark energy models we considered. On the other hand, when investigating potential dark matter candidates, we find that the cross-correlation of galaxies and GW can definitively rule in or out with high degree of confidence solar mass PBHs as the main component of dark matter.

This article is structured as follows: in section 2 we present our formalism and the statistical tools we use to forecast the cosmological constraints. In section 3 we characterize the tracer we are considering, i.e., galaxies and gravitational waves. In section 4 we quantify which kind of survey gives the best constraints. Finally we conclude in section 5. Appendices provide additional information regarding the number count fluctuation in General Relativity (A), modifications implemented in Multi_CLASS (B), second and third generation GW detector network specifications (C), PBH binary formation channels (D), optimistic versions of Modified Gravity parameters (E) and astrophysical-primordial BHs second generation detected events (F).

2 Formalism and methodology

In this section we briefly summarize the most important aspects of the galaxy and gravitational wave clustering, along with the basic tools we use to assess the constraining power of future galaxy surveys and GW observatory datasets. The interested reader can find a broader and richer discussion of these topics in refs. [52, 54].

2.1 Clustering statistics

Anisotropies of the Universe LSS contain a wealth of information concerning the origin and the growth of cosmological perturbations. In this work we are interested in the fluctuation of the number density of objects $\Delta^X(z, \hat{\mathbf{n}})$ at redshift z in the direction $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$ [55–57], where X labels the tracer, i.e., the objects we observe (galaxies or GWs). Given the spherical symmetry of the sky, it is convenient to expand the number density fluctuation in spherical harmonics as

$$\Delta^X(z, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) = \sum_{\ell m} a_{\ell m}^{X, z} Y_{\ell m}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where the $a_{\ell m}^{X,z}$ are the spherical harmonic coefficients and $Y_{\ell m}$ are the spherical harmonics. The two-point statistics in harmonic space, i.e., the angular power spectrum C_{ℓ} , is given by [58, 59]

$$\left\langle a_{\ell m}^{X,z_i} a_{\ell' m'}^{Y,z_j*} \right\rangle = \delta_{\ell\ell'}^K \delta_{mm'}^K C_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j), \qquad (2.2)$$

where * indicate the complex conjugate and δ^{K} is the Kronecker delta. The angular power spectrum is defined as [60, 61]

$$C_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j) = 4\pi \int \frac{dk}{k} \mathcal{P}(k) \Delta_{\ell}^{X, z_i}(k) \Delta_{\ell}^{Y, z_j}(k), \qquad (2.3)$$

where $\mathcal{P}(k) = k^3 P(k)/2\pi^2$ is the almost scale-invariant primordial power spectrum. The number count fluctuation is

$$\Delta_{\ell}^{X,z_i}(k) = \int_0^\infty dz \frac{dN_{\rm X}}{dz} W(z,z_i,\Delta z_i) \Delta_{\ell}^{\rm X}(k,z), \qquad (2.4)$$

where dN_X/dz is the redshift distribution of the tracer X and $W(z, z_i, \Delta z_i)$ is a window function (normalized to unity) centered at redshift z_i with half-width Δz . The number density fluctuation transfer functions $\Delta_{\ell}^X(k, z)$ is given by the sum of different contribution commonly called density, velocity, lensing and gravity effects [55–57]:

$$\Delta_{\ell}^{X}(k,z) = \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{den}}(k,z) + \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{vel}}(k,z) + \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{len}}(k,z) + \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{gr}}(k,z),$$
(2.5)

and the explicit form of these terms is reported in appendix A. The angular power spectra are computed using Multi_CLASS [52, 53], a public extension of the Boltzmann code CLASS [60] that allows to compute the angular power spectra for different combinations of tracers including all the projection effects included in equation (2.5).

Any tracer population is characterized by four functions of redshift and, possibly, scale: the number density redshift distribution $d^2N_X/dzd\Omega$; the clustering bias b_X , which connects the tracer overdensity to the matter overdensity by $\delta_X = b_X \delta_m$; the magnification bias [62–65]

$$s_X = -\frac{2}{5} \left. \frac{d \log_{10} \frac{d^2 N_X(z, L > L_{\rm lim})}{d z d \Omega}}{d \log_{10} L} \right|_{L_{\rm lim}},\tag{2.6}$$

that describes how a flux-limited observable is affected by cosmic lensing effects; and the evolution bias [56, 57, 66]

$$f_X^{\text{evo}} = \frac{d \log\left(a^3 \frac{d^2 N_X}{dz d\Omega}\right)}{d \log a},\tag{2.7}$$

which describes the formation rate of new tracers. Moreover, for the purpose of this analysis, we introduce a new parameter called effective bias

$$b_X^{\text{eff}} = \int_{z_{\min}}^{z_{\max}} dz \ b_X \frac{d^2 N_X}{dz d\Omega} \bigg/ \int_{z_{\min}}^{z_{\max}} dz \frac{d^2 N_X}{dz d\Omega}, \tag{2.8}$$

where z_{\min} and z_{\max} are the minimum and maximum redshift of the tracer X survey, respectively.

Finally, real measurements are affected by multiple sources of noise, which we describe via the noise angular power spectrum $N_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j)$. In other words, the observed angular power spectrum \tilde{C}_{ℓ} has the form $\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j) = C_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j) + N_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j)$. The first source of noise we consider is the shot noise due to the discrete nature of the tracer, both galaxies and GWs, which is characterized by a white noise of the form

$$N_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j) = \frac{\delta_{XY}^K \delta_{ij}^K}{dN_X(z_i)/d\Omega}.$$
(2.9)

Errors due to poor galaxy localisation, both in terms of angular position and rdshift determination, are expected to be subdominant in our analysis.

However, contrarily to galaxies, GWs suffer from a limited spatial resolution due to instrumental noise. We take an approach similar to that used in weak lensing analysis, see e.g., refs. [67–69], to treat the error due to poor determination of the GW redshift. First we define a probability $p_{\rm obs}$ for a GW emitted at redshift $z_{\rm GW}$ to be observed at redshift $z_{\rm obs}$ due to instrumental noise, where, for simplicity, we assume

$$p_{\rm obs}(z_{\rm GW}, z_{\rm obs}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_z^2}} e^{-(z_{\rm GW} - z_{\rm obs})^2/2\sigma_z^2}.$$
 (2.10)

In the case of an infinitely precise instrument the dispersion σ_z tends to zero and the probability $p_{\rm obs}$ becomes a Dirac delta centered at the true value $z_{\rm GW}$, as we naively expect to be the case. Then we introduce an observed angular number of objects $dN_{\rm GW}^{\rm obs}/d\Omega$ and we use this quantity in the shot noise angular power spectrum instead of the true angular number of objects, as done in equation (2.9). More explicitly, for each redshift bin we have

$$\frac{dN_{\rm GW}^{\rm obs}}{d\Omega} = \int_{z_{\rm min}}^{z_{\rm max}} dz_{\rm obs} \frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}^{\rm obs}}{dz d\Omega} (z_{\rm obs}) = \int_{z_{\rm min}}^{z_{\rm max}} dz_{\rm obs} \int_0^\infty dz_{\rm GW} \frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}}{dz d\Omega} (z_{\rm GW}) p_{\rm obs} (z_{\rm GW}, z_{\rm obs})
= \int_0^\infty dz_{\rm GW} \frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}}{dz d\Omega} (z_{\rm GW}) \frac{1}{2} \left[\operatorname{erf} \left(\frac{z_{\rm GW} - z_{\rm min}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma_z} \right) - \operatorname{erf} \left(\frac{z_{\rm GW} - z_{\rm max}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma_z} \right) \right],$$
(2.11)

where, also in this case, in the limit of no instrumental error $\sigma_z \to 0$ the function in square brackets becomes $2\Theta_H(z_{\rm GW} - z_{\rm min})\Theta_H(z_{\rm max} - z_{\rm GW})$ and we recover the expected form of the shot noise. On the other hand, we describe the effect of poor angular resolution via a Gaussian beam enhancing factor of the noise angular power spectrum, as suggested in ref. [70]. Therefore the total GW angular power spectrum \tilde{C}_{ℓ} has the form

$$\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_i, z_j) = C_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_i, z_j) + N_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_i, z_j) = C_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_i, z_j) + \frac{\delta_{ij}^K}{dN_{\text{GW}}^{\text{obs}}(z_i)/d\Omega} \exp\left[\frac{\ell(\ell+1)\left(\theta_{\text{res}}^{\text{avg}}\right)^2}{8\log 2}\right],$$
(2.12)

where $\theta_{\rm res}^{\rm avg}$ is the average resolution of a GW detector network and "log" refers to the natural logarithm. The maximum multipole $\ell_{\rm max} = 180^{\circ}/\theta_{\rm res}^{\rm max}$ we include in our analysis is determined by the maximum resolution of a GW detector network $\theta_{\rm res}^{\rm max}$.

2.2 Fisher matrix analysis

Despite its simplicity, a Fisher matrix analysis is able to quickly forecast the constraining power of future experiments. In particular, by estimating the curvature of the log-likelihood around its maximum, the Fisher analysis returns the best error an experiment can achieve, i.e., the Cramér-Rao bound [71–74]. Given a pair of cosmological parameters $\{\theta_{\alpha}, \theta_{\beta}\}$, their respective Fisher matrix element reads as

$$F_{\alpha\beta} = \left\langle -\frac{\partial^2 \log \mathcal{L}}{\partial \theta_{\alpha} \partial \theta_{\beta}} \right\rangle = f_{\text{sky}} \sum_{\ell} \frac{2\ell + 1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{-1} \left(\partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\ell} \right) \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{-1} \left(\partial_{\beta} \mathcal{C}_{\ell} \right) \right], \tag{2.13}$$

where to compute the r.h.s. we assume a Gaussian likelihood \mathcal{L} for the spherical harmonic coefficients, see, e.g., ref. [52]. The parameter $f_{\rm sky}$ represents the observed fraction of sky in common between the different (galaxy or GW) surveys considered in the forecast. Assuming the tracers are binned into n redshift bins z_1, \ldots, z_n , the (symmetric) covariance matrix \mathcal{C}_{ℓ}

reads as

$$\mathcal{C}_{\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gg}}(z_{1}, z_{1}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gg}}(z_{1}, z_{n}) & \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gGW}}(z_{1}, z_{1}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gGW}}(z_{1}, z_{n}) \\ & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ & \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gg}}(z_{n}, z_{n}) & \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gGW}}(z_{n}, z_{1}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gGW}}(z_{n}, z_{n}) \\ & & \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_{1}, z_{1}) \dots \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_{1}, z_{n}) \\ & & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & & \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}}(z_{n}, z_{n}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.14)

The matrix $\partial_{\alpha} C_{\ell} \equiv \partial C_{\ell} / \partial \theta_{\alpha}$ contains derivatives of the elements of the covariance matrix with respect a single cosmological parameter keeping all the others fixed.

Errors on cosmological parameters are obtained from the error covariance matrix $\Sigma = F^{-1}$, in particular the marginalized errors are given by $\sigma_{\theta_{\alpha}} = \sqrt{\Sigma_{\alpha\alpha}}$. Moreover, using the marginalized errors we can perform a sort of null hypothesis testing comparing two models, the "fiducial" and the "alternative", each one characterized by the value of a parameter, in our case the GW effective bias. By computing a Signal-to-Noise ratio (SNR) of the form

$$\mathrm{SNR}^{2} = \frac{\left(b_{\mathrm{GW,alt}}^{\mathrm{eff}} - b_{\mathrm{GW,fid}}^{\mathrm{eff}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{b_{\mathrm{GW,fid}}^{2}}^{2}},$$
(2.15)

we can assess whether the alternative model, labelled by "alt", is statistically different from the fiducial one, labelled by "fid". For values of SNR ≤ 1 we consider the two models as statistically indistinguishable.

2.3 Cosmological model

In this work we investigate both the nature of dark matter and that of dark energy using GWs, however, given the peculiarity of each scenario, we have to assume different cosmological fiducial models for the two scenarios. In the case where we study the origin of coalescing BHs, we assume a standard ACDM model, in which the gravitational section is described by General Relativity and a cosmological constant is responsible for the accelerated expansion. On the other hand, in the second case, where we investigate the nature of dark energy, we allow for deviations from General Relativity. Many different theories have been proposed to extend General Relativity by introducing some dynamical mechanism that explains the late time acceleration [37, 38], however in this article we focus only on two classes, scalar-tensor and extra-dimension theories.

The most common class of Modified Gravity models are scalar-tensor theories where a scalar field dominates the dynamics of the Universe at late times, in particular we highlight Horndeski and beyond-Horndeski models [75–79]. Despite having been constrained by early and late time cosmological probes, see, e.g., ref. [80], and by the remarkable binary neutron star event [81–83], the parameter space in this class of models can still allow for interesting deviations from General Relativity at late times. Following the spirit of the Effective Field Theory of Dark Energy [84–90], we choose to conveniently parametrize deviations from General Relativity instead of starting from a well defined Lagrangian density. In particular, at background level we impose a Λ CDM expansion history, while at perturbative level we allow for deviations by introducing two free functions of redshift z and scale k. Between many

different parametrization choices [35], we choose the $\mu - \eta$ one given by [91]

$$k^{2}\Psi(k,z) = -4\pi G a^{2} \mu(k,z) \bar{\rho} D, \Phi(k,z) = \eta(k,z) \Psi(k,z),$$
(2.16)

where the Bardeen potentials Φ, Ψ are defined by the line element

$$ds^{2} = a^{2} \left[-(1+2\Psi)d\tau^{2} + (1-2\Phi)\delta_{ij}^{K}dx^{i}dx^{j} \right], \qquad (2.17)$$

the conformal time and spatial coordinates are τ and x^j , respectively, a is the scale factor, $D = \delta + 3\mathcal{H}(1+w)\theta/k^2$ is the gauge-invariant energy density fluctuation, δ is the energy density fluctuation, θ is the velocity divergence, $\mathcal{H} = a'/a$ is the Hubble expansion rate in conformal time, w is the equation of state of the Universe, G is Newton constant. Regarding the $\mu - \eta$ Modified Gravity functions, the former affects the growth of structure by effectively changing the strength of Newton constant, while the latter changes the relation between the metric potentials.

Regarding the form of μ and η , several authors have considered a scale-independent form for these functions; however, in total generality, Modified Gravity theories often have additional scales appearing both at linear [90] and nonlinear [92–97] level. We build on the redshift-dependent parametrization introduced in ref. [98] and we complement it with an additional scale dependence to account phenomenologically for the presence of an additional scale $k_{\rm mg}$ in the theory as [99, 100]

$$\mu(k,z) = 1 + \frac{\mu_0 - 1}{2} \left[1 - \tanh \frac{z - z_{\rm th}}{\Delta z_{\rm th}} \right] e^{-\frac{1}{2}(k/k_{\rm mg})^2},$$

$$\eta(k,z) = 1 + \frac{\eta_0 - 1}{2} \left[1 - \tanh \frac{z - z_{\rm th}}{\Delta z_{\rm th}} \right] e^{-\frac{1}{2}(k/k_{\rm mg})^2},$$
(2.18)

where μ_0 , η_0 , $z_{\rm th}$, $\Delta z_{\rm th}$ and $k_{\rm mg}$ are constant parameters. The parameters $z_{\rm th}$ and $\Delta z_{\rm th}$ control when and how fast we transition from the General Relativity to the Modified Gravity regime. The General Relativity limit is recovered for $\mu_0 = \eta_0 = 1$, hence when $\mu = \eta = 1$. Moreover, this parametrization allows to recover the Λ CDM limit in the Early Universe ($z \gg z_{\rm th}$) or at small scales ($k \gg k_{\rm mg}$) independently from the value of μ_0 and η_0 , while, at the same time, allowing for deviations at late time and large scales. Following refs. [30, 101] we choose $z_{\rm th} = 6$, $\Delta z_{\rm th} = 0.05$. We choose as benchmark scale $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-3}$, 10^{-2} and 10^{-1} Mpc⁻¹ to study the dependence of the constraints on the extra scale of the theory. The different parametrizations have been implemented in Multi_CLASS, and the code has been validated against the results of refs. [102, 103] obtained using the MGCLASS II code (more details are included in appendix B).

In alternative, other popular Modified Gravity models involve the existence of extra dimensions, as the Dvali-Gabadadze-Porrati (DGP) model [104]: this 1-parameter extension of Λ CDM describes the Universe as a 4D brane embedded in a 5D Minkowski space. While matter is confined on the brane, gravity propagates in the extra dimension above the scale r_c , which represents the cross-over scale between the 4D and 5D behaviour. In this work we focus on only one of the two branches of the theory [105], the so-called "normal branch" (hereafter denoted as nDGP), since the "self-accelerating branch" has been showed to be unstable [106–108]. This simple model has an incredibly rich phenomenology, allowing for potential deviations from GR at the background, linear and non-linear level [109–114]. However, in this work we focus on the model proposed in ref. [115], which leaves unaltered the expansion history of the Universe but changes the growth of structure. Despite having a substantially different theoretical framework from the case of scalar-tensor theories, also this model can be described at perturbative level using the parametrization given in equation (2.16) by imposing [116, 117]

$$\mu(z) = 1 + \frac{1}{3\beta}, \qquad \eta(z) = \frac{1 - \frac{1}{3\beta}}{1 + \frac{1}{3\beta}}, \qquad (2.19)$$

where

$$\beta(z) = 1 + \frac{H}{H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_{\rm rc}}} \left[1 + \frac{1}{3} \frac{d \log H}{d \log a} \right] = 1 + \frac{H}{H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_{\rm rc}}} \left[1 + \frac{\dot{H}}{3H^2} \right], \quad \Omega_{\rm rc} = \frac{1}{4r_c^2 H_0^2}, \quad (2.20)$$

and $H = \dot{a}/a$ and " \cdot " represents a derivative with respect to cosmic time. In this case we do not include any additional scale dependence in the Modified Gravity functions.

In conclusion, in the case where we investigate dark matter properties, we consider as cosmological parameters for the forecast

$$\{\theta_{\alpha}\} = \{\omega_{\rm cdm}, h, n_s, b_{\rm g}^{\rm eff}, b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}\},$$
(2.21)

where $\omega_{\rm cdm}$ is the cold dark matter physical density, h is the Hubble parameter, n_s is the spectral index of scalar perturbations and $b_{\rm g}^{\rm eff}$, $b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}$ are the effective bias parameters for galaxies and GWs. The fiducial value of GW effective bias depends on binary formation channels, as explained in section 3. On the other hand, in the case where we forecast sensitivity for dark energy models, we consider

$$\{\theta_{\alpha}\} = \{\omega_{\rm cdm}, h, n_s, \mu_0, \eta_0, b_{\rm g}^{\rm eff}, b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}\},$$
(2.22)

and

$$\{\theta_{\alpha}\} = \{\omega_{\rm cdm}, h, n_s, \Omega_{\rm rc}, b_{\rm g}^{\rm eff}, b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}\},$$
(2.23)

for the Modified Gravity and nDGP cases, respectively. In the latter two cases, the GW effective bias refers to the case of astrophysical BBHs.² The fiducial value of the standard cosmological parameters are { ω_{cdm} , h, n_s } = {0.12038, 0.67556, 0.9619}, while for the Modified Gravity models we use { μ_0 , η_0 } = {0.87, 1.3} and for nDGP we choose { Ω_{rc} } = {0.2}.

3 Tracers

In this section we present the specifics of the two kinds of galaxy survey (SW or DL, section 3.1) and the details on the different astrophysical (section 3.2) or primordial (section 3.3, 3.4) BH binaries. Regarding PBHs, we consider binaries that form either at late or early times, since they trace LSS in well defined ways. Including other formation channels in specific

²In principle we could fully fixed the GW bias when investigating the phenomenology of dark energy models instead of introducing a GW effective bias in the Fisher matrix analysis. We choose to maintain the GW effective bias as a parameter of the analysis since we consider this choice a reasonable trade-off between assuming perfect knowledge of the GW bias, which results in tighter constraints of the Modified Gravity parameters, and a real data analysis, where the most conservative approach would very likely require treating the bias in each individual bin as a separate parameter to be constrained by observations, resulting in looser constraints. Moreover, we also want to check at the end of the astrophysical-versus-primordial-BHs part of the analysis whether the lack of perfect knowledge of Gravity at large scales significantly affects our ability to test for BH origin.

environment, see, e.g., ref. [118], or formation channels that include also neutron stars [119] is left for future work. Finally, in section 3.5 we show how to combine GW events coming from different binary models in a single framework.

Binary models have been studied using the external modules of $CLASS_GWB$ [51], and the detectability of these sources has been done both for second and third generation GW detector networks, as detailed in appendix C. In particular, we consider as detector networks:

- HLVIK, a second generation network made by Hanford and Livingston LIGO, Virgo, KAGRA and LIGO India L-shaped interferometers;
- ET2CE, a third generation network made by Einstein Telescope (triangle-shaped interferometer) and two Cosmic Explorer (L-shaped interferometers).

We assume all the detector to work at their design sensitivity, and individual events are considered "detected" if their Signal-to-Noise ratio for the network is $\rho \geq 12$, see, e.g., ref. [51] and references therein. Errors on the redshift determination are of the order of $\delta z/z \simeq$ $\delta d_L/d_L \simeq 3/\rho \lesssim 0.3$ [70, 120] and are discussed further in appendix C along with typical average and maximum resolution of the two detector networks. For any effective purpose, both second and third generation detector networks cover the entire sky (even if with different sensitivities at different times), therefore for GWs we assume $f_{\rm sky} = 1.0$. In the next subsections we provide fitting formulas to allow interested readers to reproduce our results, without claiming that they provide any particular insight on the properties of the tracers.³

3.1 Galaxy surveys

First we consider a DL survey that observes up to 326×10^6 galaxies over 8000 deg² ($f_{\rm sky} = 0.2$), covering the [0.5, 4.1] redshift range. For the sake of this analysis we assume data is grouped into 18 redshift bins of half-width $\Delta z = 0.1$. On the other hand, for the SW survey we consider a mission that covers the entire sky ($f_{\rm sky} = 0.7$) in the redshift range [0.2, 4.2]. In this case we bin galaxies into 10 redshift bins with half-width $\Delta z = 0.2$. These specifics are inspired by those of SPHEREX [43–45].⁴ In both cases we consider tophat window functions when binning the galaxy catalogs.

The redshift distributions of the galaxy populations for both surveys can be parametrized as

$$\frac{d^2 N_{\rm g}}{dz d\Omega} = \mathcal{A} \left(\frac{z}{z_0}\right)^{\alpha} e^{-(z/z_0)^{\beta}},\tag{3.1}$$

where for the DL survey $\mathcal{A} = 194575 \text{ gal/deg}^2$, $z_0 = 0.07$, $\alpha = 0.34$ and $\beta = 0.42$; while for SW one we consider $\mathcal{A} = 25509 \text{ gal/deg}^2$, $z_0 = 0.09$, $\alpha = 1.75$ and $\beta = 0.69$, which take into account the contribution of each sample.

The bias for the DL survey is approximated as $b_g = 0.84/D(z)$, where D(z) is the linear growth factor normalized to 1 at redshift z = 0, while for SW one we consider a parametric form

$$b_{\rm g}(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + b_2 z^2, \tag{3.2}$$

³It should be noted that the reported fitting formula are valid only in the following redshift ranges: [0, 2] and [0, 9] for second and third generation astrophysical BH binaries, [0, 2] and [0, 7] for second and third generation late time PBH binaries, and [0, 2] and [0, 7] for second and third generation early time PBH binaries, respectively.

⁴https://github.com/SPHEREx/Public-products.

where $b_0 = 0.53$, $b_1 = 1.59$ and $b_2 = -0.08$. Therefore, the effective galaxy bias for these two surveys reads as $b_g^{\text{eff}} = 1.76$ and $b_g^{\text{eff}} = 1.69$ for DL and SW, respectively. Regarding the magnification bias s_g , since this is a preliminary study and no accurate data is available, we choose $s_g = 0.6$ for both surveys. Finally, the evolution bias f_g^{evo} is inferred from the galaxy redshift distribution given in equation (3.1).

3.2 Astrophysical black hole binaries

First of all we consider GWs emitted by coalescing BHs generated as a result of stellar evolution. These BHs are expected to live in galaxies, where the star formation history is more intense, hence they are expected to trace LSS in a similar (yet not identical) way to what galaxies do. We create catalogs⁵ of GW events following the model and the procedure presented in ref. [51], hence, for the sake of conciseness, we will not repeat all the details in this article. Suffice to say that every GW event is described by its time of arrival at Earth, merger redshift, binary formation redshift, dark matter halo mass both at formation and at merger, masses and spins of the compact objects, sky localization of the event, inclination angle of the binary and polarization of the signal. Assuming that all the BH binaries are astrophysical in origin, the LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA Collaboration measured a local merger rate of $\bar{R}_{\rm LVK}^{\rm LVK} \simeq 20 ~{\rm Gpc}^{-3}{\rm yr}^{-1}$ [121].

Given the catalogs, we compute the observed GW redshift distribution both for second and third generation detector networks and we normalized it to $T_{\rm obs} = 10$ years of observation time. We parametrize the GW redshift distribution as in equation (3.1), finding $\{\mathcal{A}^{2G}, z_0^{2G}, \alpha^{2G}, \beta^{2G}\} = \{84.26 \text{ GW/sr}, 0.04, 2.79, 0.68\}$ and $\{\mathcal{A}^{3G}, z_0^{3G}, \alpha^{3G}, \beta^{3G}\} =$ $\{1.35 \times 10^{-7} \text{ GW/sr}, 2.02 \times 10^{-3}, 6.12, 0.41\}$ for second and third generation detectors, respectively. The bias of each individual GW event is computed starting from the dark matter halo mass at merger and by using the halo bias model, as proposed in refs. [51, 54]. The biases are then averaged in every redshift bin and the overall bias function is parametrized as

$$b_{\rm GW}(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + b_2 z^2 + b_3 z^3, \tag{3.3}$$

where $\{b_0^{2G}, b_1^{2G}, b_2^{2G}, b_3^{2G}\} = \{0.86, 0.12, 0.75, -0.27\}$ and $\{b_0^{3G}, b_1^{3G}, b_2^{3G}, b_3^{3G}\} = \{0.65, 1.45, -0.14, 0.01\}$ for second and third generation detector networks, respectively. The effective GW bias is given by $b_{GW}^{2G,eff} = 1.29$ and $b_{GW}^{3G,eff} = 2.86$, in the redshift range probed by the DL survey, and by $b_{GW}^{2G,eff} = 1.14$ and $b_{GW}^{3G,eff} = 2.84$ in the SW one. Regarding the GW magnification bias

$$s_{\rm GW}(z) = -\left. \frac{d \log_{10} \frac{d2N_{\rm GW}}{dzd\Omega}}{d\rho} \right|_{\rho=12} \tag{3.4}$$

we confirm the result first presented in ref. [18] that $s_{\text{GW}}^{2\text{G}} \simeq [0.0, 0.6]$ and $s_{\text{GW}}^{3\text{G}} \simeq 0$ for second and third generation of detectors, respectively (see also figures 7 and 1). The GW evolution bias, as for galaxies, is computed from the GW redshift distribution.

3.3 Late time primordial black hole binaries

PBHs inside virialized dark matter halos can form binaries at late times through a direct capture process of unbound compact objects [122, 123], similarly to standard astrophysical

⁵Typically multiple catalogs of 10^5 events are created to test consistency of the inferred properties such as the GW redshift distribution. Given our fiducial model, each catalog covers an observation time of $T_{obs} = 2.92$ years.

BHs. In this article we follow the approach of ref. [122] to compute the intrinsic merger rate density for PBH late time binaries as

$$\bar{R}_{\rm m}^{\rm LPBH}(z) = \int_{t_{d,\min}}^{t_{d,\max}} dt_d p(t_d) \bar{R}_{\rm bf}(z_f), \qquad (3.5)$$

where t_d is the time delay between merger and binary formation, $p(t_d)$ is the time delay probability density function, z_f is the binary formation redshift and $\bar{R}_{\rm bf}$ is the intrinsic binary formation rate density (see appendix D for details on its computation). By simulating catalogs of binaries in a similar fashion to what we do to create GW events, we derived for the first time the expected time delay probability distribution function and, as we show in appendix D, we can approximate it as $p(t_d) \propto t_d^{-1}$. However, since $t_{d,\max} \simeq t(z)$, where t(z) is the age of the Universe at redshift z, the time delay is non-negligible. The local merger rate of $\bar{R}_{m,0}^{\rm LPBH} \simeq 2 \ {\rm Gpc}^{-3} {\rm yr}^{-1}$ to be compared to the (overestimated) local merger rate $\bar{R}_{m,0}^{\rm LPBH} \simeq 9.5 \ {\rm Gpc}^{-3} {\rm yr}^{-1}$ obtained without including the time delay effect.

As for astrophysical BHs in the previous section, we use the catalog approach to derive the late time PBH merging binary redshift distribution and bias. Parametrizing again the GW redshift distribution with equation (3.1), we find $\{\mathcal{A}^{2G}, z_0^{2G}, \alpha^{2G}, \beta^{2G}\} = \{119.29 \text{ GW/sr}, 0.20, 2.40, 1.05\}$ and $\{\mathcal{A}^{3G}, z_0^{3G}, \alpha^{3G}, \beta^{3G}\} = \{0.2 \text{ GW/sr}, 5 \times 10^{-3}, 2.42, 0.33\}$ for second and third generation detectors, respectively. For the bias we follow the same methodology used for astrophysical BHs and, parametrizing the bias as in equation (3.3), we find $\{b_0^{2G}, b_1^{2G}, b_2^{2G}, b_3^{2G}\} = \{0.60, -0.01, 3 \times 10^{-3}, 1 \times 10^{-3}\}$ and $\{b_0^{3G}, b_1^{3G}, b_2^{3G}, b_3^{3G}\} = \{0.60, -0.01, 6 \times 10^{-3}, -2 \times 10^{-4}\}$ for second and third generation detector networks, respectively. The effective GW bias is given by $b_{\rm GW}^{2G,\rm eff} = 0.59$ and $b_{\rm GW}^{3G,\rm eff} = 0.61$ in both the redshift ranges probed by the DL and SW surveys. Also in this case, we find that $s_{\rm GW}^{2G} \simeq [0.0, 0.6]$ and $s_{\rm GW}^{3G} \simeq 0$ and the GW evolution bias is calculated from the GW redshift distribution.

3.4 Early time primordial black hole binaries

Alternatively, PBH binaries can form before matter-radiation equality [124–126]. Thanks to tidal forces generated by other PBHs, the binary components avoid an head-to-head collision and start their inspiralling motion, eventually merging at later times. Numerous authors analysed both the binary creation stage and the binary evolution history, finding that overall the merger rate of such PBH binaries can be modelled as [127–129]

$$\bar{R}_{\rm m}^{\rm EPBH}(z) = f_{\rm PBH}^{53/37} \left[\frac{t_0}{t(z)}\right]^{\frac{34}{37}} \int dM_1 dM_2 \ \mathcal{A}_{\rm m} \left(\frac{M}{60 \ M_{\odot}}\right)^{\frac{2}{37}} \left(\frac{\mu}{15 \ M_{\odot}}\right)^{-\frac{34}{37}} \frac{d\Phi_1}{dM_1} \frac{d\Phi_2}{dM_2}, \quad (3.6)$$

where $t_0 = t(0)$ is the age of the Universe, and \mathcal{A}_m is an amplitude factor that accounts for effects connected to the distribution of initial binaries [129–131], cosmological perturbations [132], interaction with surrounding environment [133], and many more. Typical values of the amplitude factor are of order $\mathcal{O}(10^5)$ Gpc⁻³yr⁻¹, which, if taken at face value, would constraint PBH abundance to be of order $f_{PBH} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-3})$ [134–136]. However, numerical simulations seem to suggest that binary disruption due to three body encounters might be more frequent than what was previously thought [137, 138], and that the real value of the amplitude factor is of order $\mathcal{A}_m \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$ Gpc⁻³yr⁻¹ in the tens of solar masses range, making PBH a viable candidate for dark matter. In the following we fix as benchmark value $\mathcal{A}_m = 18$ Gpc⁻³yr⁻¹: in this fashion, when $f_{PBH} = 1$, we have that late and early time PBH binaries completely saturate the measured local merger rate $\overline{R}_0^{\text{LVK}}$. Also for early time PBH binaries we create catalogs of events and assess how many are detected by different GW detector networks. Parametrizing the GW redshift distribution according to equation (3.1), we find $\{\mathcal{A}^{2G}, z_0^{2G}, \alpha^{2G}, \beta^{2G}\} = \{133.75 \text{ GW/sr}, 0.09, 3.41, 0.84\}$ and $\{\mathcal{A}^{3G}, z_0^{3G}, \alpha^{3G}, \beta^{3G}\} = \{9.40 \text{ GW/sr}, 0.03, 2.85, 0.41\}$ for second and third generation detectors, respectively. Since early time PBH binaries formed during the radiation dominated era and they follow the subsequent dark matter evolution, we assume they trace very well the underlying matter distribution, hence we assume their bias to be equal to $b_{GW} = 1$, and therefore also the effective bias is $b_{GW}^{\text{eff}} = 1$. As for astrophysical BH and late time PBH binaries, we find $s_{GW}^{2G} \simeq [0.0, 0.6]$ and $s_{GW}^{3G} \simeq 0$ for second and third generation detectors and we calculate the GW evolution bias from the GW redshift distribution.

3.5 Complete black hole binary population

So far we consider cases where only a single BH binary population contributes to observations, however in reality all these populations contribute to the totality of detected events. Hence the true functions characterizing the two-point statistics of GW are the total number density

$$\frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot}}{dz d\Omega} = \frac{d^2 N_{\rm ABH}}{dz d\Omega} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm LPBH}}{dz d\Omega} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm EPBH}}{dz d\Omega},\tag{3.7}$$

and, by definition, total bias, magnification bias and evolution bias

$$\frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot}}{dz d\Omega} b_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot} = \frac{d^2 N_{\rm ABH}}{dz d\Omega} b_{\rm ABH} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm LPBH}}{dz d\Omega} b_{\rm LPBH} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm EPBH}}{dz d\Omega} b_{\rm EPBH},
\frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot}}{dz d\Omega} s_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot} = \frac{d^2 N_{\rm ABH}}{dz d\Omega} s_{\rm ABH} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm LPBH}}{dz d\Omega} s_{\rm LPBH} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm EPBH}}{dz d\Omega} s_{\rm EPBH},
\frac{d^2 N_{\rm GW}^{\rm tot}}{dz d\Omega} f_{\rm GW}^{\rm evo, tot} = \frac{d^2 N_{\rm ABH}}{dz d\Omega} f_{\rm ABH}^{\rm evo} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm LPBH}}{dz d\Omega} f_{\rm LPBH}^{\rm evo} + \frac{d^2 N_{\rm EPBH}}{dz d\Omega} f_{\rm LPBH}^{\rm evo}.$$
(3.8)

The relative importance of PBH with respect to astrophysical BHs depends on the f_{PBH} and \mathcal{A}_{m} parameters. We investigate the PBH parameter space given by $\mathcal{A}_{\text{m}} \in [0, 18]$ and $f_{\text{PBH}} \in [0, 1]$, where, at every point, the local merger rate of astrophysical BHs is defined by

$$\bar{R}_0^{\text{ABH}} = \bar{R}_0^{\text{LVK}} - \bar{R}_0^{\text{LPBH}} - \bar{R}_0^{\text{EPBH}} = \bar{R}_0^{\text{LVK}} - 2f_{\text{PBH}}^2 - \mathcal{A}_{\text{m}} f_{\text{PBH}}^{53/37} \text{ Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1}, \qquad (3.9)$$

in order to saturate by definition the measured local merger rate.

We show in figure 1 the total redshift distribution, bias, magnification bias and evolution bias for different models spanning the $f_{\text{PBH}} - \mathcal{A}_{\text{m}}$ parameter space for a third generation detector network, along with three reference scenarios corresponding to the astrophysical BHs only ($f_{\text{PBH}} = \mathcal{A}_{\text{m}} = 0$), mixed astrophysical and late time PBH ($f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_{\text{m}} = 0$), and PBHs only ($f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_{\text{m}} = 18$) cases. In the astrophysical BH only scenario we observe a redshift distribution peaked $z \simeq 1.5$, when also the cosmic star formation rate peaks. Increasing the abundance of PBHs slightly alters the distribution, if only late time PBH binaries are included, or significantly shifts it at higher redshift of order $z \simeq 3.5$, when early time PBH binaries are included. At the same time, the inclusion of PBH significantly lowers the total bias of the population, especially at high redshift, while affecting only partially the total magnification and evolution bias. The analogue figure for GW events detected by a second generation detector network is reported in appendix F.

Finally, we note that, even keeping fixed the total local merger rate to the measured value, the total number of detected GW events changes due to the different merger rate



Figure 1. GW mixed population redshift distribution (top left panel), bias (top right panel), magnification bias (bottom left panel) and evolution bias (bottom right panel) for different values of f_{PBH} and \mathcal{A}_m . In this plot we consider only events detected by a third generation GW detector network. The light blue, blue and dark blue lines correspond to the astrophysical BHs only ($f_{\text{PBH}} = \mathcal{A}_m = 0$), mixed astrophysical and late time PBH ($f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_m = 0$), and PBHs only ($f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_m = 18$) scenarios, respectively. In the mixed astrophysical and late time PBH scenario, late time PBHs contribute to approximately 6% of the total number of observed events. The green lines refer to mixed models where different populations contribute to the total number of detected events.

redshift dependence of different models. Since the average number of detected events is $N_{\rm ABH} \simeq 33000 \ {\rm GW \, yr^{-1}}$ when $f_{\rm PBH} = A_{\rm m} = 0$ (astrophysical BHs only scenario) or $N_{\rm PBH} \simeq 43000 \ {\rm GW \, yr^{-1}}$ when $f_{\rm PBH} = 1$, $A_{\rm m} = 18$ (PBH only scenario, 41000 early time and 2000 late time events), over the span of $T_{\rm obs} = 10$ yr we would observe approximately between 2.9×10^5 and 4.3×10^5 GW events, depending on how much each population contributes to the total. These estimates are considerably influenced by the shape of the merger rate at high redshift, which is currently unknown, however we can already use them to infer how much the shot noise changes in our forecast. In particular we can see that it would change at most by a factor 1.5 over the entire $f_{\rm PBH} - A_{\rm m}$ parameter space. The astrophysical BH model we adopt can be seen as conservative compared to existing estimates that predict up to $N_{\rm ABH} \simeq 7-8 \times 10^4$ observed events per year [139], hence also our errors and detectability prospects can be interpreted as conservative.

Survey	σ_{n_s}	σ_h	$\sigma_{\omega_{ m cdm}}$	$\sigma_{b_{ m g}}$
SW	0.017	0.019	0.005	0.04
DL	0.013	0.009	0.003	0.03

Table 1. Constraints on standard cosmological parameters from the DL and SW galaxy surveys. Errors are calculated for the Modified Gravity model with $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$, however they are consistent also with the errors found for other choices of $k_{\rm mg}$ and for the nDGP model.



Figure 2. Galaxy angular power spectrum relative difference between Modified Gravity (MG) scenarios with respect to the Λ CDM case for redshift bins centered at z = 0.4 (*left panel*) and z = 3.6 (*right panel*). The Modified Gravity extra scale dependence is set at $k_{\rm mg} \rightarrow \infty$ (*yellow* line) and $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-1}$, 10^{-2} and 10^{-3} Mpc⁻¹ (*orange, red* and *dark red* lines, respectively). We show the effect only for galaxies, however also the GW angular power spectrum and the galaxy-GW angular power spectra share a similar phenomenology.

4 Testing extended cosmologies

In this section we present the capability of GWs to test cosmological model that deviates from the standard ACDM either in the dark matter or in the dark energy sectors. We present results for GW alone and in synergy with galaxy surveys, in particular we discuss whether a DL or a SW survey are more effective in constraining our set of extended cosmologies. In order to draw fair conclusions regarding both kind of surveys, first we report in table 1 errors on standard cosmological parameters: our results suggest that the DL survey is equal to or even a factor two more efficient than the SW survey in constraining them.

4.1 Constraints on modified gravity theories

First of all, we consider the effect of the additional Modified Gravity scale dependence in the $\mu(k, z)$ and $\eta(k, z)$ functions parametrized by $k_{\rm mg}$. We present in figure 2 the relative difference between the angular power spectrum in two different redshift bins in Modified Gravity models with $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-1}$, 10^{-2} and 10^{-3} Mpc⁻¹ with respect to the Λ CDM case. We also show in the same figure the case in which no extra scale dependence is included as a useful comparison obtained: this scenario is obtained by taking the limit $k_{\rm mg} \to \infty$, in which μ and η become functions only of redshift. The suppression effect showed in figure 2 can be understood by comparing the Modified Gravity scale $k_{\rm mg}$ to the typical scale associated to each

Tracers	$k_{\rm mg} \; [{\rm Mpc}^{-1}]$	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	$\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$
	10^{-1}	$0.75 \ (0.58)$	5.40 (2.99)	2.97(1.08)
ET2CE	10^{-2}	1.93(1.50)	5.86(4.14)	2.65(0.25)
	10^{-3}	55.78(55.48)	72.53 (72.00)	1.94 (0.19)
	10^{-1}	$0.03\ (0.02)$	0.15(0.06)	0.11 (0.06)
$SW \times ET2CE$	10^{-2}	$0.11 \ (0.10)$	0.29(0.25)	0.09 (0.06)
	10^{-3}	2.29(2.29)	2.98(2.98)	$0.09 \ (0.05)$
	10^{-1}	0.03~(0.02)	0.10 (0.06)	0.09(0.07)
$DL \times ET2CE$	10^{-2}	$0.11 \ (0.11)$	0.29(0.24)	0.08 (0.07)
	10^{-3}	$3.59\ (3.59)$	2.98(2.97)	$0.08 \ (0.07)$
	Tracers	$\sigma_{\Omega_{ m rc}}$	$\sigma_{b_{ m GW}^{ m eff}}$	
	ET2CE	4.18 (2.98)	1.87(0.67)	
	SW×ET2CE	0.11(0.02)	0.09(0.05)	

Table 2. Marginalized errors on Modified Gravity (*upper table*) and nDGP (*lower table*) parameters for single (GW only) and multi-tracer analysis. SW and DL refer to "shallow and wide" and "deep and localized" galaxy surveys, respectively. Errors refer to our conservative bechmark model. Numbers in parenthesis are the marginalized errors obtained assuming perfect knowledge of the standard cosmological parameters.

0.10(0.03)

0.08(0.06)

DL×ET2CE

multipole $k \simeq (\ell + 1/2)/r(z)$ [140, 141], where r(z) is the comoving distance to the redshift bin centered at z. In the cases showed in the figure we have $r(0.4) \simeq 1.6$ Gpc and $r(3.6) \simeq 7$ Gpc, therefore at multipoles such that $\ell \gg \ell_{\rm mg}(z) = k_{\rm mg}r(z) - 1/2$ we expect deviations from Λ CDM to be exponentially suppressed and to recover the Λ CDM limit. In this example the critical multipole at which the two scales are approximately equal is $\ell_{\rm mg}(0.4) \simeq 160$, 16, 1 $(\ell_{\rm mg}(3.6) \simeq 700, 70, 7)$ for $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-1}, 10^{-2}$ and 10^{-3} Mpc⁻¹, respectively, as it could have been estimated by eye in the figures.

In other words, Modified Gravity effects are highly suppressed for small values of $k_{\rm mg}$, therefore in those scenarios we expect to find weaker constraints on Modified Gravity parameters, as we show in table 2 both for GW alone and by cross-correlating them with galaxy surveys for our conservative astrophysical BH model. The numbers outside parenthesis refer to the errors obtained by the full Fisher matrix, while numbers in parenthesis refer to the case where standard cosmological models are perfectly known, and we quote them to show how tighten the constraints can become when a strong prior on those parameters is imposed.⁶ In particular, the difference in errors between the $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-3}$ Mpc⁻¹ and the $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-2}$ Mpc⁻¹

⁶In the case of GWs alone, fixing standard cosmological parameters help in breaking degeneracies between them and the parameters describing the Modified Gravity model and the tracer itself. In particular, the effective bias is strongly anticorrelated with ω_{cdm} , since both parameters controls the amplitude of the angular power spectra at large scale, hence the large improvement in the constraint. On the other hand, in this case both μ_0 and η_0 are almost uncorrelated with standard cosmological parameters, hence the tightening of the constraint is milder. In the GW×LSS cases, galaxy surveys provide very tight constraints on their own, thus fixing extra parameters does not improve the overall constraints on "New Physics" parameters significantly.

Tracers	Conservative $\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$	Optimistic $\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$
SW×HLVIK	0.49	0.35
DL×HLVIK	1.36	0.96
Tracers	Conservative $\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$	Optimistic $\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$
Tracers SW×ET2CE	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Conservative } \sigma_{b_{\text{GW}}^{\text{eff}}} \\ \hline 0.09 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ c c }\hline \text{Optimistic } \sigma_{b_{\text{GW}}^{\text{eff}}} \\\hline 0.08 \end{array}$

Table 3. Constraints on the GW effective bias parameter using second (*left table*) and third generation (*right table*) detector networks. SW and DL refer to "shallow and wide" and "deep and localized" galaxy surveys, respectively.

scenarios is about one order of magnitude, both for μ_0 and η_0 , while the difference between the $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-2} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ and $k_{\rm mg} = 10^{-1} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ cases is a factor few, both with and without galaxy surveys. Note that for large values of $k_{\rm mg}$ GWs alone can provide independent and complementary constraints that are comparable to existing ones [1, 35]. Moreover, we find that errors on the standard cosmological parameters of table 1 are almost unaffected by the exact choice of $k_{\rm mg}$. In general, we conclude that SW and DL surveys will be equally competitive in constraining Modified Gravity parameters when cross-correlated to GWs, despite the latter being intrinsically better at constraining standard cosmological parameters, and they will provide constraints that are around one order of magnitude tighter than existing ones.

Moving to the nDGP model, we report errors on the $\Omega_{\rm rc}$ parameter also in table 2. Also in this case we notice that both galaxy surveys have the same constraining power in terms of ruling out the nDGP model. Moreover, we notice that errors in this case are comparable to existing ones, however in this case the constraints have been obtained considering exclusively linear scales. In other words, our constraints can be considered more robust in the sense that does not depend on including the effect of non-linearities in the nDGP model.

We also provide in table 5 of appendix E the constraints on Modified Gravity and nDGP parameters for the optimistic case corresponding to observe twice as many GW events per year, as some estimates suggest. While improving by a factor two the estimated errors on the Modified Gravity and nDGP parameters in the GW alone case, the optimistic astrophysical BH model shows only a marginal improvement in the magnitude of the errors when galaxy surveys are included. The general considerations regarding the importance of the Modified Gravity additional scale dependence we made for the conservative case apply also for the optimistic one.

4.2 Constraints on black hole origin

For the purpose of estimating the SNR in equation (2.15), we consider the astrophysical BH population as fiducial model, and the astrophysical-primordial BH population described by the parameters $f_{\rm PBH} - A_{\rm m}$ as alternative model. We report the marginalized errors on the GW effective bias both for second and third generation detector networks in table 3 for both DL and SW surveys. While for the second generation case a SW galaxy survey performs significantly better than a DL one, due to the wider coverage of the sky, for the third generation case the two surveys tighten the constraint up to one order of magnitude and have substantially equivalent constraining power, since now GW events can also explore the Universe at higher redshift similarly to the DL survey.



Figure 3. Total effective bias of the mixed BH binary population (*top panels*) and SNR obtained assuming astrophysical BHs are the fiducial model (*bottom panels*), both for second (*left panels*) and third generation (*right panels*) GW detector network. The fiducial model is given by the conservative astrophysical BH benchmark model. The effective bias of the alternative model is defined in equation (3.8). For the HLVIK case we consider the cross-correlation with the SW survey since it is the most promising case, while for the ET2CE case the results are equivalent for both kind of galaxy surveys.

Even though we are not interested in investigating models where Modified Gravity and PBHs describe simultaneously the dark energy and dark matter sectors, respectively, we can briefly comment on the magnitude of errors on GW effective bias in table 2 and 3. We notice that errors on the GW effective bias appear to be minimally affected by the choice of dark energy model, whether it is a pure cosmological constant, a Modified Gravity or a nDGP model, even if there is some residual correlation that make the constraints looser when deviations from General Relativity are stronger. Therefore, we can rather safely conclude that our prospect of disentangling the origin of BH binary progenitors are only minimally dependent on our description of the dark energy sector.

In figure 3 we show the GW effective bias for the mixed BH populations (top panels) and the corresponding SNR for second and third generation GW detector networks (bottom panels). The SNRs refer to the case where GWs are cross-correlated with the SW galaxy survey since in the second generation case it outperforms the DL one, while in the third they are almost equivalent. We note that second generation GW detector networks are inefficient in discriminating the origin of the BHs because of (i) the low number of detected events, which implies a more noisy measurements of the GW clustering statistics, and (ii) the fact that detected sources are mainly at low redshift, where relative differences between the models are

less accentuated, as the interested reader can see in figure 7 of appendix F. On the other hand, the third generation case is radically different. In particular, we will be able to statistically infer the presence of a primordial component of sources at more than 3σ confidence in a large portion of the $f_{\text{PBH}} - \mathcal{A}_{\text{m}}$. Most notably, if PBHs are the dark matter, i.e., if $f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$, we will be able to assess it at the 20σ level, making GW-galaxy cross-correlation one of the most important probes to determine PBH existence in the $\mathcal{O}(10) M_{\odot}$ mass range. If we consider an optimistic astrophysical BH model with twice the number of events of the conservative one, the improvement in the SNR in the second generation detector network case is of the order of 30%, hence it is still insufficient in effectively discriminating the nature of the compact objects. On the other hand, the same improvement in the third generation detector network case further expands the parameter space that can be effectively probed by the cross-correlation technique.

In parallel to this work, another article investigated PBH clustering [142]. The two approaches are comparable yet different, since we focus our attention to produce realistic catalogs of detected events and on the existence of an intrinsic correlation between different PBH binary formation channels given by the abundance parameter f_{PBH} . The treatment of astrophysical and binary PBH formation uncertainties is also somewhat different but conservative in both cases. Nevertheless, constraints are comparable once we rescale appropriately the early time PBH binary local merger rate and the PBH abundance.

5 Conclusions

The emerging field of GW astronomy offers outstanding opportunities to address multiple open questions on the nature of our Universe. Future GW detectors, thanks to their increased sensitivity, are expected to observe tens of thousand of GW events per year, shedding light on the physics behind GW sources. Along with this unprecedented opportunity to explore the Universe through GW radiation, the Cosmology community has to face a new challenge: developing new techniques and ideas to fully maximize the scientific outcome of this new kind of dataset. In this work we explore this avenue by investigating whether GW clustering alone or in combination with galaxies can improve our understanding of both the dark matter and dark energy sectors. In fact GWs, since they are emitted by sources which live in a variety of environments (galaxies, dark matter halos, and so on), represent a legitimate tracers of the large-scale structure of the Universe.

Since a priori it is not known which kind of galaxy survey is more suitable to be correlated with GWs, in this work we consider both a shallow and wide (SW) and a deep and localized (DL) galaxy surveys. Moreover, since the intrinsic origin of BHs is currently unknown, we analyze both astrophysical and primordial BHs as potential sources for detected GW events. We created realistic catalogs of GW events following specific state-of-the-art binary models and we determine the clustering properties of GW events detected by second and third generation detector networks using the external modules of CLASS_GWB. We generalized the public code Multi_CLASS to include extension of General Relativity described by the standard $\mu - \eta$ parametrization, and we use it to compute the GW and galaxy clustering statistics.

Using astrophysical BHs alone, we could constrain extensions of General Relativity approximately at the same level of existing constraints using exclusively linear scales. In other words, GWs represent a tracer of the large-scale structure of the Universe that is independent from, for instance, galaxies, and that can be used to place constraints that are subject to a different set of systematic errors. Moreover, these constraints do not depend on the modelling of non-linear scales, which is not a well explored territory in Modified Gravity theories. By including cross-correlations with galaxies we find competitive constraints even for our conservative astrophysical benchmark model. We also showed how the strength of the constraints explicitly depend on the presence of extra scales in the Modified Gravity theories, providing a fair representation (which is sometimes lacking in the literature) of the constraining power of this new probe.

Regarding the possibility of assessing whether merging binary BHs might have astrophysical or primordial origin, we explored two popular PBH binary formation channels and we compared them to the standard astrophysical one. Even though the number of events detected by a second generation GW detector network at design sensitivity appear to be insufficient to establish the origin of the binary due to volume selection effects that smears out the relative differences between models, we find that third generation detectors will be able to either rule in or out PBHs as a major component of the dark matter at more than 3σ confidence level in the tens of solar masses range. Therefore GW clustering can be effectively used to robustly constraint the abundance of PBH in a mass range that is heavily probed [143–160], but still suffers from large theoretical uncertainties due to the theoretical modelling of the observables and the unknown PBH mass distribution, see, e.g., refs. [160, 161]. Finally, we note that it is more difficult to probe PBH abundances of $f_{PBH} \leq 0.1$, independently on the relative abundance of late time and early time PBH binaries.

In this work we considered only dark sirens as a GW tracer to provide a conservative result. However other types of merging events, such as BH-neutron star or neutron starneutron star mergers, can be reasonably included in this kind of analysis. On top of a straightforward increase in the number of objects used to create GW maps of the sky, which certainly helps in diminishing the noisiness of the maps, in certain instances these kind of events might have a electromagnetic counterpart, which also allows for a better localization. However, when comparing the total number of events detected both by second and third generation GW detector networks, we still find that the number of detected binary BH mergers dominates over BH-neutron star and neutron star-neutron star events. Therefore, even in the (very) optimistic case where every single event involving a neutron star has an electromagnetic counterpart, we do not expect the improvement to be substantial for the kind of analysis performed here since the resolution of the maps would still be limited by binary BH events.

Given the potential of the cross-correlation technique to test beyond General Relativity models, it would be interesting to perform this kind of analysis using a Modified Gravity model for which we know its strong field regime predictions, and to account in a self-consistent way for all aspects of these theories ranging from differences in the emitted GW waveform to differences in the GW propagation in a perturbed Universe. Further investigations on different GW sources also appear to be a promising avenue, including in different frequency bands such as the mHz (probed by LISA) or the nHz (probed by PTA), especially when the properties of these sources heavily rely on properties of their environment.

Acknowledgments

MB thanks Andrea Begnoni and Giulio Scelfo for interesting discussions. The authors thank Sarah Libanore for useful discussions. NB acknowledges partial support from the National Science Foundation (NSF) under Grant No. PHY-2112884. AR acknowledges funding from the Italian Ministry of University and Research (MIUR) through the "Dipartimenti di eccellenza" project "Science of the Universe".

A Number count contributions

The contributions to $\Delta_{\ell}^X(k,z)$ introduced in equation (2.5) read as

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{den}}(k,z) &= b_X j_{\ell} D(k,\tau_z), \\ \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{vel}}(k,z) &= \frac{k}{\mathcal{H}} \partial_y^2 j_{\ell} V(k,\tau_z) + \left[(f_X^{\text{evo}} - 3) \frac{\mathcal{H}}{k} j_{\ell} + \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}'}{\mathcal{H}^2} + \frac{2 - 5s_X}{r(z)\mathcal{H}} + 5s_X - f_X^{\text{evo}} \right) \partial_y j_{\ell} \right] V(k,\tau_z), \\ \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{len}}(k,z) &= \ell(\ell+1) \frac{2 - 5s_X}{2} \int_0^{r(z)} dr \frac{r(z) - r}{r(z)r} \left[\Phi(k,\tau_z) + \Psi(k,\tau_z) \right] j_{\ell}(kr), \\ \Delta_{\ell}^{X,\text{gr}}(k,z) &= \left[\left(\frac{\mathcal{H}'}{\mathcal{H}^2} + \frac{2 - 5s_X}{r(z)\mathcal{H}} + 5s_X - f_X^{\text{evo}} + 1 \right) \Psi(k,\tau_z) + (5s_X - 2)\Phi(k,\tau_z) + \mathcal{H}^{-1}\Phi'(k,\tau_z) \right] j_{\ell} \\ &+ \int_0^{r(z)} dr \frac{2 - 5s_X}{r(z)} \left[\Phi(k,\tau) + \Phi(k,\tau) \right] j_{\ell}(kr) \\ &+ \int_0^{r(z)} dr \left(\frac{\mathcal{H}'}{\mathcal{H}^2} + \frac{2 - 5s_X}{r(z)\mathcal{H}} + 5s_X - f_X^{\text{evo}} \right)_{r(z)} \left[\Phi'(k,\tau) + \Psi'(k,\tau) \right] j_{\ell}(kr). \end{split}$$
(A.1)

As we already mentioned, b_X is the bias parameter of the tracer X, s_X is the magnification bias parameter and f_X^{evo} is the evolution bias parameter. Then, r(z) is the radial comoving distance at redshift z, $\tau_z = \tau_0 - r(z)$ and $\tau = \tau_0 - r$ are conformal times of perturbations that we observe at the comoving distances r(z) and r, with τ_0 being the conformal age of the Universe. Besides, $\mathcal{H} = a'/a$ is the Hubble expansion rate and the prime ' denotes a derivative with respect to conformal time, D is the gauge invariant density perturbation, V is the gauge invariant velocity perturbation, Φ and Ψ are Bardeen potentials. Finally, $j_\ell = j_\ell(kr(z))$ are Bessel functions and $\partial_y^n = d^n/d(kr(z))^n$.

B Implementation of Modified Gravity models in Multi_CLASS

The implementation of the Modified Gravity and nDGP models in Multi_CLASS follows the approach described in ref. [102]. In particular, we modify the evolution equations for the metric potentials, which in the $\mu - \eta$ parametrization now read as

$$\Psi = \frac{\Phi}{\eta} - 12\pi G \left(\frac{a}{k}\right)^2 (\bar{\rho}_{\text{tot}} + \bar{p}_{\text{tot}})\sigma_{\text{tot}},$$

$$\Phi' = \frac{\left[\Phi \left(\frac{\mu'}{\mu} + \frac{\eta'}{\eta} - \mathcal{H}\right) + \frac{9}{2}\frac{\mathcal{H}^2}{k^2}\Omega_{\text{m}}\theta_{\text{m}}\mu\eta \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{\mathcal{H}^2 - \mathcal{H}'}{k^2}\right) - \frac{9}{2}\frac{\mathcal{H}^2}{k^2}\Omega_{\text{m}}\mu\eta\Psi\mathcal{H}\right]}{\left(1 + \frac{9}{2}\frac{\mathcal{H}^2}{k^2}\Omega_{\text{m}}\mu\eta\right)} \tag{B.1}$$

where $\bar{\rho}_{tot}$ and \bar{p}_{tot} are the total background energy density and pressure, respectively, σ_{tot} is the total anisotropic stress, $\Omega_m(z)$ is the fractional abundance of matter at redshift z and θ_m is the matter velocity divergence. The Λ CDM limit is recovered for constant $\mu = \eta = 1$, as discussed in ref. [102].

It is trivial to take derivatives of the $\mu - \eta$ functions in equations (2.18) in our parametrization of the Modified Gravity scenario, therefore we do not report them here. On the other hand, in the nDGP model, we have

$$\mu' = -\frac{\beta'}{3\beta^2}, \qquad \eta' = \frac{6\beta'}{(3\beta+1)^2}.$$
 (B.2)

Deriving equation (2.20) with respect to the conformal time we obtain

$$\beta' = \frac{H'}{H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_{\rm rc}}} + \frac{1}{3H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_{\rm rc}}} \left(\frac{H'}{aH}\right)' = \frac{1}{3H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_{\rm rc}}} \left(\frac{H''}{aH} + 2H' - \frac{(H')^2}{aH^2}\right), \tag{B.3}$$

where the explicit expression for H'' can be calculated from the Friedmann equation

$$2\dot{H} + 3H^2 = -8\pi G\bar{p}_{\rm tot},\tag{B.4}$$

finding that

$$H'' + 2aHH' = -4\pi G a\bar{p}'_{\text{tot}} = \frac{16\pi G}{3} a^2 H\bar{\rho}_{\text{r}} = 2a^2 H^3 \frac{\bar{\rho}_{\text{r}}}{\bar{\rho}_{\text{tot}}},$$
(B.5)

where $\bar{\rho}_{\rm r}$ is the radiation background energy. More in detail, in equation (B.5) we use

$$\bar{p}_{\text{tot}} = \bar{p}_{\Lambda} + \bar{p}_{\text{m}} + \bar{p}_{\text{r}} \implies a\bar{p}_{\text{tot}}' = a^3 H \frac{d\bar{p}_{\text{tot}}}{da} = -\frac{4a^2 H \bar{\rho}_{\text{r}}}{3},$$
 (B.6)

with \bar{p}_{Λ} and $\bar{p}_{\rm m}$ being the cosmological constant and matter background pressure, respectively. The r.h.s. of equation (B.5) is expected to be very suppressed during the matter and dark energy dominated eras.

C Gravitational wave detector networks

In this work we consider both second and third generation GW observatories to compare their performances. Regarding the former, we consider a network made by LIGO Hanford and Livingston, Virgo, KAGRA and LIGO India L-shaped interferometers. On the other hand, for the latter, we choose a network made by Einstein Telescope (composed by three V-shaped interferometer) and Cosmic Explorer (two L-shaped interferometer, with arm length of 40 and 20 km for the main and secondary site, respectively). Existing and future detector location (latitude and longitude) and orientation angles of the arms are reported in table 4.

Regarding ET, we consider the "ET-D" base sensitivity for the one-sided noise spectral density S_n . The nominal curve is given for a 10 km L-shaped interferometer hence it has to be rescaled: following the ET community guidelines we use $S_n^{\text{real}} = \left(2\sqrt{2}/3\right)^2 S_n^{\text{nominal}}$. The frequency range considered for the three detectors is [1, 10000] Hz. Noise is assumed to be uncorrelated in the three interferometers. Regarding CE, we consider two L-shaped interferometers, one with 40-km arms, the other with 20km arms. The comparison between second and third generation noise spectral densities is presented on the left panel of figure 4. We choose $\rho_{\text{det}} = 12$ as SNR threshold for both second and third generation detector networks. We show on the right panel of figure 4 the average detection efficiency as a function of redshift for both detector network and for all binary populations. For each binary population the displayed average efficiency is an average of the detection efficiency of five different catalogs of 10^5 events. The noisy behaviour of the curves at high redshift is due to the low number of events in that epoch.

Given the catalogs of detected events for different populations, we can estimate what are the typical errors in determining the redshift of the source. We show in top panels of figure 5 the redshift error probability distribution function for different detector networks and binary populations. The errors are estimated for each event using $\delta z_{\text{event}} = 3z_{\text{event}}/\rho_{\text{event}}$ [70, 120] and should be compared to the redshift bin width $2\Delta z = 0.2$ and $2\Delta z = 0.4$ we use for DL

Detector		β	λ	λ			ω_1			φ_2			ω_2	
LIGO Hanford		0.8108	-2.08	41	2.1991	L -	-6.195×10^{-4}		3.7699		1.25	$\times 10^{-}$	-5	
LIGO Livingston		0.5334	-1.58	43	3.4508	3 –	-3.121×10^{-4}		5.0216		-6.10	07×10)-4	
Virgo		0.7615	0.183	0.1833		3	0.0		2.8024			0.0		
KAGRA		0.6355	2.396	2.3965) 3	3.141×10^{-3}		2.0647		-3.62	27×10^{-10}) ⁻³	
LIGO India		0.3423	1.344	1.3444		1	0.0			5.8012			0.0	
					-						_			
De		tector	β	λ		φ	'1	ω_1	4	\mathcal{P}_2	ω_2			
		ET1	0.7615	0	.1833	1.23	316	0.0	2.2	788	0.0			
		ET2	0.7630	0	.1841	3.32	260	0.0	4.3	732	0.0			

Table 4. Detector latitude β , longitude λ and arm orientation angles $(\varphi_1, \omega_1, \varphi_2, \omega_2)$ in radians for
the second (upper table) and third (lower table) generation GW detector network. We choose Einstein
Telescope location to be at the Germany-Belgium-The Netherlands border, while for Cosmic Explorer
we consider two sites on the U.S.A. mainland already used for preparatory studies [162, 163]. Notation
follows that of ref. [51].

5.4204

0.0

2.6180

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1844

1.5708

4.1888

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1819

-1.9692

-1.8584

ET3

CE1

CE2

0.7627

0.7649

0.5788



Figure 4. *Left panel*: one-sided noise spectral density for individual detectors belonging to second and third generation detector networks. *Right panel*: average detection efficiencies for different BBH sources and detector networks.

and SW galaxy surveys, respectively. We find that the median redshift error is $\delta z \simeq 0.1$ for all populations and GW detector networks, making our binning choice broadly compatible with typical error on the source distance. Moreover we explicitly check the magnitude of the average localization error $\langle \delta z \rangle$ in each redshift bin, and we show it on the bottom panels of figure 5. These figures further support our binning choice, and they also show the redshift-dependent dispersion $\sigma_z = \langle \delta z \rangle$ we later use in the computation of the GW noise in equation (2.12). While for second generation networks the three classes of binaries have similar ρ^2 distributions, thus a similar $\langle \delta z \rangle$ value. On the other hand, in the case of third



Figure 5. Top panels: redshift error probability distribution function for second (*left panel*) and third (*right panel*) generation GW detector network for all binary populations considered in this work. Bottom panels: average redshift localization error in different redshift bins for second (*left panel*) and third (*right panel*) generation GW detector network for all binary populations considered in this work. Solid and dashed lines refer to the redshift binning chosen for the SW and DL surveys, respectively. For comparison, the width of redshift bins in our analysis is $2\Delta z = 0.4$ and $2\Delta z = 0.2$ for SW and DL surveys, respectively.

generation detectors, our model of PBH describes binaries that are detected with a higher signal-to-noise ratio compared to astrophysical ones, hence the better localization error in redshift. Finally, for third generation detectors we find a high δz tail due to events located at high redshift, suggesting that the optimal binning strategy might be one that has narrow bins at low redshift and wide bins at high redshift, however we leave the investigating of an optimal binning strategy for future work.

Regarding the determination of the average and maximum resolution, we use the results in figure 3 of ref. [70]. In particular, we find that on average the number of GW detected by second and third generation detector network peaks at redshift $z_{\text{peak}}^{2\text{G}} \simeq 0.3, 0.4, 0.5$ and $z_{\text{peak}}^{3\text{G}} \simeq 1.4, 2.2, 3.4$ for astrophysical binaries, late-time and early-time primordial binaries, respectively. Therefore the average resolution for the two classes of detectors is given by $\theta_{\text{res}}^{\text{avg},2\text{G}} \simeq 2.6^{\circ}, 3.2^{\circ}, 3.4^{\circ}$ and $\theta_{\text{res}}^{\text{avg},3\text{G}} \simeq 0.8^{\circ}, 1.2^{\circ}, 1.8^{\circ}$. The maximum resolution is given by $\theta_{\text{res}}^{\text{max},2\text{G}} = 0.6^{\circ}, 0.8^{\circ}, 1.0^{\circ}$ and $\theta_{\text{res}}^{\text{max},3\text{G}} = 0.1^{\circ}, 0.2^{\circ}, 0.4^{\circ}$, which would correspond to $\ell_{\text{max}}^{2\text{G}} = 300, 225, 180$ and $\ell_{\text{max}}^{3\text{G}} = 1200, 900, 450$; however we consider as maximum multipole $\ell_{\text{max}} = 200$ to avoid modelling the non-linear regime, see, e.g., ref. [52]. We note that these estimates are consistent also with more recent ones, see, e.g., ref. [139].

D Late time primordial black hole binary formation

In total generality, any PBH population is described by the fractional abundance function [161]

$$\frac{df_{\rm PBH}}{dM_{\rm PBH}} = f_{\rm PBH} \frac{d\Phi_{\rm PBH}}{dM_{\rm PBH}},\tag{D.1}$$

where the abundance parameter $f_{\rm PBH} = \bar{\rho}_{\rm PBH}/\bar{\rho}_{\rm dm}$ describes the fraction of dark matter in form of PBHs, and $d\Phi_{\rm PBH}/dM_{\rm PBH}$ describes the shape of the PBH mass distribution. The latter function is normalized to unity by construction. For the rest of this appendix we consider two benchmark cases: a monochromatic mass distribution (MMD) where all compact object have mass $M_{\rm PBH}^{\star}$

$$\frac{d\Phi_{\rm PBH}}{dM_{\rm PBH}} = \delta^D (M_{\rm PBH} - M_{\rm PBH}^{\star}), \tag{D.2}$$

where $M_{\text{PBH}}^{\star} = 30 \ M_{\odot}$ is our benchmark value, and a *lognormal* extended mass distribution [161] (EMD)

$$\frac{d\Phi_{\rm PBH}}{dM_{\rm PBH}} = \frac{e^{-\frac{\log^2(M_{\rm PBH}/\mu)}{2\sigma^2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}M_{\rm PBH}},\tag{D.3}$$

characterized by two parameters, mean μ and standard deviation σ , with $(\mu, \sigma) = (40, 0.5)$ being our benchmark value. With this choice of values we have an EMD peaked around 30 M_{\odot} , mimicking a MMD but with some width. Additionally, we assume PBH to be spinless, i.e., $S_{\rm PBH} = 0$, hence the (dimensionless) spin parameter reads as $\chi_{\rm PBH} = cS_{\rm PBH}/GM_{\rm PBH}^2 = 0$. This assumption is consistent with the predictions of the popular models where PBH form from the collapse of large overdensities during the radiation-dominated era [164–166].

Independently from the origin of the BHs, binaries are described by the total and reduced masses

$$M = M_1 + M_2, \qquad \mu = \frac{M_1 M_2}{M_1 + M_2},$$
 (D.4)

respectively, where M_1, M_2 are the two compact object masses.

D.1 Late time binaries

The binary formation rate density appearing in equation (3.5) is given by [122, 123]

$$\bar{R}_{\rm bf} = \int_{M_h^{\rm min}}^{M_h^{\rm max}} dM_h \frac{dn_h}{dM_h} \bar{R}_{{\rm bf},h}(M_h, z), \tag{D.5}$$

where M_h is the dark matter halo mass, dn_h/dM_h is the halo number density given in ref. [167] and $\bar{R}_{bf,h}$ is the binary formation rate per halo

$$\bar{R}_{\mathrm{bf},h}(M_h,z) = f_{\mathrm{PBH}}^2 \int d^3r dM_1 dM_2 \rho_h^2(r) \frac{d\Phi_{\mathrm{PBH}}}{dM_1} \frac{d\Phi_{\mathrm{PBH}}}{dM_2} \frac{\langle \sigma_{\mathrm{dc}} v_{\mathrm{rel}} \rangle}{2M_1 M_2}, \tag{D.6}$$

with $\langle \sigma_{\rm dc} v_{\rm rel} \rangle$ is the velocity-averaged direct capture cross section. Accordingly with ref. [122], we consider $M_h^{\rm min} = 400 \ M_{\odot}$ as minimum halo mass and, as maximum halo mass, the redshift-dependent maximum mass $M_h^{\rm max}(z)$ a virial structure can have at redshift z [168], even though the latter does not influence the total merger rate because it is dominated by low mass halos.

D.1.1 Dark matter halos

Assuming that dark matter halos made of PBH have a similar phenomenology to halo in cold matter scenarios,⁷ we describe the spatial distribution of matter inside dark matter halos by a Navarro-Frenk-White density profile [169]

$$\rho_h(r) = \frac{\rho_s}{\frac{r}{r_s} \left(1 + \frac{r}{r_s}\right)^2},\tag{D.7}$$

where ρ_s and r_s are the characteristic density and radius. Halos are commonly described by virial radius r_h , average density $\rho_c \Delta_c$, where $\rho_c = 3H^2(z)/8\pi G$ is the critical density of the Universe and $\Delta_c = 200$ is the most common choice for the virial overdensity threshold, and mass

$$M_h = 4\pi \int_0^{r_h} dr r^2 \rho_h(r) = 4\pi r_s^3 \rho_s g(C) = \frac{4\pi}{3} r_h^3 \rho_c \Delta_c, \qquad (D.8)$$

where we define the concentration parameter $C = r_h/r_s$ and the function

$$g(C) = \log(1+C) - \frac{C}{1+C}.$$
 (D.9)

From equation (D.8) we have that the characteristic density and radius read in terms of the concentration parameter as

$$\rho_s = \frac{\Delta_c H^2 C^3}{8\pi G g(C)}, \qquad r_s = \left(\frac{2GM_h}{\Delta_c H^2 C^3}\right)^{1/3},$$
(D.10)

therefore the integration over the halo profile in equation (D.6) factorizes out and is given by

$$\int d^3 r \rho_h^2(r) = \frac{\Delta_c M_h H^2 C^3}{24\pi G g^2(C)} \left[1 - (1+C)^{-3} \right].$$
(D.11)

The concentration parameter is a function both of halo mass and redshift, and its value can be inferred and fitted from numerical simulations [170, 171]. In this work we use the fitting formulas of ref. [171], which reads as

$$C(M, z) = c_0 \left(\frac{\nu}{\nu_0}\right)^{-\gamma_1} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\nu}{\nu_0}\right)^{1/\beta}\right]^{\beta(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)},$$
(D.12)

where $\nu = \delta_c/\sigma(M, z)$ is the "peak height", $\delta_c = 1.686$ is the linearly extrapolated critical overdensity for spherical collapse in Einstein-de Sitter, σ is the variance of the matter field, the fitting parameters are given by

$$c_{0} = 3.395(1+z)^{-0.215}, \qquad \beta = 0.307(1+z)^{0.540},$$

$$\gamma_{1} = 0.628(1+z)^{-0.047}, \qquad \gamma_{2} = 0.317(1+z)^{-0.893},$$

$$\nu_{0} = \left[4.135 - 0.564(1+z) - 0.210(1+z)^{2} + 0.0557(1+z)^{3} - 0.00348(1+z)^{4}\right]/D(z),$$

(D.13)

and D(z) is the linear growth factor. For the matter variance and linear growth factor we use the fitting formulas of refs. [167] and [172, 173], respectively (see also appendix D of ref. [51]).

⁷Note that other choices of dark matter density profile (not divergent at the origin) proved to not influence significantly the final PBH biary formation rate [122].

Regarding the distribution of velocities inside dark matter halos, it is helpful to define two quantities starting from the expression for the circular velocity $v_c = \text{GM}(r)/r$ for a halo in virial equilibrium: v_h and v_{dm} . The former is called "virial" velocity and it is the circular velocity at the edge of the halo, i.e.,

$$v_h = v_c(r_h) = \left(\frac{\Delta_c}{2}\right)^{1/6} (GM_h H)^{1/3},$$
 (D.14)

while the latter is defined as the escape velocity at radius $r_{\text{max}} = C_{\text{max}}r_s$, with $C_{\text{max}} = 2.1626$, which represents the position of the maximum of the circular velocity, and reads as

$$v_{\rm dm} = \sqrt{2}v_c(r_{\rm max}) = \sqrt{2\frac{C}{C_{\rm max}}\frac{g(C_{\rm max})}{g(C)}}v_h.$$
 (D.15)

Numerical N-body simulations suggest that the relative velocity $v_{\rm rel}$ probability distribution function of pair of objects within a dark matter halo can be described by a truncated Maxwell-Boltzmann distribution, i.e., as [122, 174, 175]

$$p(v_{\rm rel}) \propto e^{-v_{\rm rel}^2/v_{\rm dm}^2} - e^{-v_h^2/v_{\rm dm}^2}.$$
 (D.16)

D.1.2 Direct capture process

The direct capture cross section reads as [176]

$$\sigma_{\rm dc} = 2\pi \left(\frac{85\pi}{6\sqrt{2}}\right)^{2/7} \frac{G^2 M^{12/7} \mu^{2/7}}{c^{10/7} v_{\rm rel}^{18/7}}.$$
 (D.17)

Since the cross section strongly depends on the inverse of the relative velocity, the process will be more effective in low-mass dark matter halos. Using equation (D.16) we find the velocity-averaged cross section

$$\langle \sigma_{\rm dc} v_{\rm rel} \rangle = \int d^3 v_{\rm rel} \sigma_{\rm dc} v_{\rm rel} p(v_{\rm rel}) = 2\pi \left(\frac{85\pi}{6\sqrt{2}}\right)^{2/7} \frac{G^2 M^{12/7} \mu^{2/7}}{c^{10/7}} \int_0^{v_h} dv_{\rm rel} v_{\rm rel}^{3/7} p(v_{\rm rel})$$
$$= \frac{12\pi}{5} \left(\frac{85\pi}{6\sqrt{2}}\right)^{2/7} \frac{G^2 M^{12/7} \mu^{2/7}}{c^{10/7} v_{\rm dm}^{11/7}} \frac{5\Gamma[5/7,0] - 5\Gamma[5/7,V^2] - 7V^{10/7} e^{-V^2}}{3\sqrt{\pi} {\rm Erf}[V] - (6V + 4V^3) e^{-V^2}},$$
(D.18)

where $V = v_h/v_{\rm dm}$ and $\Gamma[n, x] = \int_x^\infty dt e^{-t} t^{n-1}$ is the incomplete Gamma function. Interestingly, in equation (D.6), the dependence on the compact objects mass factorizes out of the merger rate, i.e., as pointed out in ref. [18], we can rescale the binary formation rate for different PBH mass distributions and abundances just by recomputing the quantity

$$\mathcal{M}_{\rm PBH} = \int dM_1 dM_2 \frac{d\Phi_{\rm PBH}}{dM_1} \frac{d\Phi_{\rm PBH}}{dM_2} \left(\frac{M}{\mu}\right)^{5/7},\tag{D.19}$$

where a useful reference value is given in the MMD case by $\mathcal{M}_{PBH}^{MMD} = 4^{5/7}$, independently from where the mass distribution is peaked.

We follow ref. [175] to model the initial properties of the binaries: they form with an initial semi-major axis and eccentricity

$$a_{\rm ini} = -\frac{GM\mu}{2E_{\rm ini}}, \qquad e_{\rm ini} = \sqrt{1 + 2\frac{E_{\rm ini}b^2v_{\rm rel}^2}{G^2M^2\mu}},$$
 (D.20)



Figure 6. Initial eccentricity (*left panel*) and time delay (*right panel*) probability distribution function for our choice of benchmark MMD (*blue* lines) and EMD (*orange* lines).

where the energy of the binary at the beginning of the inspiral phase

$$E_{\rm ini} = \frac{\mu v_{\rm rel}^2}{2} - \frac{85\pi G^{7/2}}{12\sqrt{2}c^5} \frac{\mu^2 M^{5/2}}{r_{\rm p}^{7/2}} \tag{D.21}$$

depends on the distance of closest approach

$$r_{\rm p} \simeq \frac{b^2 v_{\rm rel}^2}{2GM} \left(1 - \frac{b^2 v_{\rm rel}^4}{4G^2 M^2} \right),$$
 (D.22)

and on the impact parameter b. The impact parameter is assumed to be uniformly distributed between the minimum and maximum impact parameters

$$b_{\min} = \sqrt{12} \frac{GM}{cv_{rel}}, \qquad b_{\max} = \left(\frac{340\pi}{3}\right)^{1/7} \frac{GM^{6/7}\mu^{1/7}}{c^2} \left(\frac{v_{rel}}{c}\right)^{-9/7}.$$
 (D.23)

Finally, the time delay between binary formation and merge is given by

$$t_d = \frac{3}{85} \frac{a_{\rm ini}^4 c^5}{G^3 M^2 \mu} \left(1 - e_{\rm ini}^2 \right)^{7/2},\tag{D.24}$$

therefore, by statistically sampling the initial properties of the binaries in a similar fashion to what presented in ref. [51], we can determine the time delay probability distribution function $p(t_d)$ entering in equation (3.5).

We show in figure 6 the initial eccentricity and time delay probability distribution function obtained for our choice of MMD and EMD as example of our study of the binary properties. First of all we note by comparing the MMD and EMD histograms that binaries properties are quite independent from the details of the PBH mass function. As expected all the binaries are created with very high eccentricities. Second, we prove that the time delay probability distribution function scales approximately as $p(t_d) \propto t_d^{-1}$, with minimum delay of $t_{d,\min} \simeq 1$ s and maximum one that can exceed the lifetime of the Universe, corresponding to binaries that never merge. Therefore, we conclude that the maximum time delay should be set to be $t_{d,\max} = t(z)$, with t(z) being the age of the Universe at redshift z.

Tracers	$k_{\rm mg} \; [{ m Mpc}^{-1}]$	σ_{μ_0}	σ_{η_0}	$\sigma_{b_{\rm GW}^{\rm eff}}$
	10^{-1}	$0.39\ (0.30)$	2.80(1.54)	1.54(0.55)
ET2CE	10^{-2}	$1.00 \ (0.79)$	3.06(2.16)	1.37(0.13)
	10^{-3}	28.68(28.52)	37.10 (36.82)	1.01(0.09)
	10^{-1}	$0.02 \ (0.02)$	0.15(0.06)	0.10 (0.04)
$SW \times ET2CE$	10^{-2}	$0.11\ (0.10)$	0.28(0.25)	0.08(0.04)
	10^{-3}	$2.91 \ (2.23)$	2.23(2.90)	0.07 (0.04)
	10^{-1}	$0.02 \ (0.02)$	0.10 (0.06)	$0.07 \ (0.05)$
$DL \times ET2CE$	10^{-2}	$0.11\ (0.11)$	0.29(0.24)	0.06 (0.05)
	10^{-3}	$3.51 \ (3.51)$	2.93(2.92)	0.06 (0.05)
	Tracers	$\sigma_{\Omega_{ m rc}}$	$\sigma_{b_{ m GW}^{ m eff}}$	
	ET2CE	2.18 (1.56)	0.98(0.34)	
	SW×ET2CE	0.11(0.03)	0.07(0.04)	

Table 5. Marginalized errors on Modified Gravity (*upper table*) and nDGP (*lower table*) parameters for single (GW only) and multi-tracer analysis. SW and DL refer to "shallow and wide" and "deep and localized" galaxy surveys, respectively. Errors refer to our optimistic benchmark model. Numbers in parenthesis are the marginalized errors obtained assuming perfect knowledge of the standard cosmological parameters.

0.10(0.04)

0.06(0.05)

E Optimistic cross-correlation constraints

DL×ET2CE

Table 5 shows the marginalized errors on Modified Gravity and nDGP parameters with and without considering perfect knowledge of the standard cosmological parameters and assuming an optimistic version of our benchmark model. The optimistic model assumes that the number of observed GW events per year is twice that of the conservative case (hence the shot noise is roughly half of that of the conservative case), in line with current estimates of certain astrophysical BH models [139].

F Mixed black hole population for second generation detectors

Figure 7 shows the total redshift distribution, bias, magnification bias and evolution bias for different models spanning the $f_{\rm PBH} - \mathcal{A}_{\rm m}$ parameter space for a second generation detector network, along with three reference scenarios corresponding to the astrophysical BHs only $(f_{\rm PBH} = \mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 0)$, mixed astrophysical and late time PBH $(f_{\rm PBH} = 1, \mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 0)$, and PBHs only $(f_{\rm PBH} = 1, \mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 18)$ cases. In all the scenarios we observe a redshift distribution peaked $z \simeq 0.3 - 0.5$, with differences between models suppressed by the detector volume selection effects. The dispersion of bias, magnification bias and evolution bias values around the peak of the redshift distribution is rather small, lowering the possibility of disentangling how much each component contributes to the total population of observed events.



Figure 7. GW mixed population redshift distribution (top left panel), bias (top right panel), magnification bias (bottom left panel) and evolution bias (bottom right panel) for different values of $f_{\rm PBH}$ and \mathcal{A}_m . In this plot we consider only events detected by a second generation GW detector network. The light blue, blue and dark blue lines correspond to the astrophysical BHs only ($f_{\rm PBH} = \mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 0$), mixed astrophysical and late time PBH ($f_{\rm PBH} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 0$), and PBHs only ($f_{\rm PBH} = 1$, $\mathcal{A}_{\rm m} = 18$) scenarios, respectively. The green lines refer to mixed models where different populations contribute to the total number of detected events.

References

- PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [2] EBOSS collaboration, Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Cosmological implications from two decades of spectroscopic surveys at the Apache Point Observatory, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 083533 [arXiv:2007.08991] [INSPIRE].
- [3] DES collaboration, Dark Energy Survey Year 3 results: Cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and weak lensing, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 023520 [arXiv:2105.13549] [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Hildebrandt et al., KiDS+VIKING-450: Cosmic shear tomography with optical and infrared data, Astron. Astrophys. 633 (2020) A69 [arXiv:1812.06076] [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Abdalla et al., Cosmology intertwined: A review of the particle physics, astrophysics, and cosmology associated with the cosmological tensions and anomalies, JHEAp 34 (2022) 49
 [arXiv:2203.06142] [INSPIRE].

- [6] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, GWTC-1: A Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog of Compact Binary Mergers Observed by LIGO and Virgo during the First and Second Observing Runs, Phys. Rev. X 9 (2019) 031040 [arXiv:1811.12907] [INSPIRE].
- [7] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, GWTC-2: Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the First Half of the Third Observing Run, Phys. Rev. X 11 (2021) 021053 [arXiv:2010.14527] [INSPIRE].
- [8] LIGO SCIENTIFIC et al. collaborations, GWTC-3: Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the Second Part of the Third Observing Run, arXiv:2111.03606
 [INSPIRE].
- M. Maggiore et al., Science Case for the Einstein Telescope, JCAP 03 (2020) 050 [arXiv:1912.02622] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Evans et al., A Horizon Study for Cosmic Explorer: Science, Observatories, and Community, arXiv:2109.09882 [INSPIRE].
- [11] Y.B. Zel'dovich and I.D. Novikov, The Hypothesis of Cores Retarded during Expansion and the Hot Cosmological Model, Sov. Astron. 10 (1967) 602.
- S. Hawking, Gravitationally collapsed objects of very low mass, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 152 (1971) 75 [INSPIRE].
- B.J. Carr and S.W. Hawking, Black holes in the early Universe, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 168 (1974) 399 [INSPIRE].
- [14] G.F. Chapline, Cosmological effects of primordial black holes, Nature 253 (1975) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial black holes perspectives in gravitational wave astronomy, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 063001 [arXiv:1801.05235] [INSPIRE].
- [16] B. Carr, K. Kohri, Y. Sendouda and J. Yokoyama, Constraints on primordial black holes, Rept. Prog. Phys. 84 (2021) 116902 [arXiv:2002.12778] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Raccanelli et al., Determining the progenitors of merging black-hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 023516 [arXiv:1605.01405] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G. Scelfo et al., GW×LSS: chasing the progenitors of merging binary black holes, JCAP 09 (2018) 039 [arXiv:1809.03528] [INSPIRE].
- [19] G. Scelfo et al., Gravitational waves × HI intensity mapping: cosmological and astrophysical applications, JCAP 01 (2022) 004 [arXiv:2106.09786] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Camera and A. Nishizawa, Beyond Concordance Cosmology with Magnification of Gravitational-Wave Standard Sirens, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 151103 [arXiv:1303.5446]
 [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Namikawa, A. Nishizawa and A. Taruya, Anisotropies of gravitational-wave standard sirens as a new cosmological probe without redshift information, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 121302 [arXiv:1511.04638] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S. Mukherjee and B.D. Wandelt, Beyond the classical distance-redshift test: cross-correlating redshift-free standard candles and sirens with redshift surveys, arXiv:1808.06615 [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Multimessenger tests of gravity with weakly lensed gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 103509 [arXiv:1908.08950] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Probing the theory of gravity with gravitational lensing of gravitational waves and galaxy surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 494 (2020) 1956 [arXiv:1908.08951] [INSPIRE].

- [25] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt, S.M. Nissanke and A. Silvestri, Accurate precision Cosmology with redshift unknown gravitational wave sources, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 043520 [arXiv:2007.02943] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Mukherjee, B.D. Wandelt and J. Silk, Testing the general theory of relativity using gravitational wave propagation from dark standard sirens, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 502 (2021) 1136 [arXiv:2012.15316] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Garoffolo et al., Gravitational waves and geometrical optics in scalar-tensor theories, JCAP 11 (2020) 040 [arXiv:1912.08093] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Garoffolo et al., Detecting Dark Energy Fluctuations with Gravitational Waves, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 083506 [arXiv:2007.13722] [INSPIRE].
- [29] G. Tasinato, A. Garoffolo, D. Bertacca and S. Matarrese, Gravitational-wave cosmological distances in scalar-tensor theories of gravity, JCAP 06 (2021) 050 [arXiv:2103.00155] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Raccanelli, Gravitational wave astronomy with radio galaxy surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 469 (2017) 656 [arXiv:1609.09377] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G. Scelfo, M. Berti, A. Silvestri and M. Viel, *Testing gravity with gravitational waves* × electromagnetic probes cross-correlations, JCAP **02** (2023) 010 [arXiv:2210.02460] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Balaudo et al., Prospects of testing late-time cosmology with weak lensing of gravitational waves and galaxy surveys, JCAP 06 (2023) 050 [arXiv:2210.06398] [INSPIRE].
- [33] D. Bertacca, A. Raccanelli, N. Bartolo and S. Matarrese, Cosmological perturbation effects on gravitational-wave luminosity distance estimates, Phys. Dark Univ. 20 (2018) 32 [arXiv:1702.01750] [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Begnoni, L.V. Dall'Armi, D. Bertacca and A. Raccanelli, *Large scale structure effects on gravitational wave luminosity distance*, in preparation.
- [35] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XIV. Dark energy and modified gravity, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A14 [arXiv:1502.01590] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R. Durrer and R. Maartens, *Dark Energy and Dark Gravity*, *Gen. Rel. Grav.* **40** (2008) 301 [arXiv:0711.0077] [INSPIRE].
- [37] T. Clifton, P.G. Ferreira, A. Padilla and C. Skordis, Modified Gravity and Cosmology, Phys. Rept. 513 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.2476] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Ishak, Testing General Relativity in Cosmology, Living Rev. Rel. 22 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1806.10122] [INSPIRE].
- [39] R.P. Norris et al., EMU: Evolutionary Map of the Universe, Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 28 (2011) 215 [arXiv:1106.3219] [INSPIRE].
- [40] LSST SCIENCE and LSST PROJECT collaborations, LSST Science Book, Version 2.0, arXiv:0912.0201 [INSPIRE].
- [41] DESI collaboration, The DESI Experiment Part I: Science, Targeting, and Survey Design, arXiv:1611.00036 [INSPIRE].
- [42] EUCLID collaboration, Euclid Definition Study Report, arXiv:1110.3193 [INSPIRE].
- [43] SPHEREX collaboration, Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, arXiv:1412.4872 [INSPIRE].
- [44] SPHEREX collaboration, Science Impacts of the SPHEREX All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey: Report of a Community Workshop Examining Extragalactic, Galactic, Stellar and Planetary Science, arXiv:1606.07039 [INSPIRE].

- [45] SPHEREX collaboration, Science Impacts of the SPHEREX All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey II: Report of a Community Workshop on the Scientific Synergies Between the SPHEREX Survey and Other Astronomy Observatories, arXiv:1805.05489 [INSPIRE].
- [46] D. Spergel et al., Wide-Field InfraRed Survey Telescope-Astrophysics Focused Telescope Assets WFIRST-AFTA Final Report, arXiv:1305.5422 [INSPIRE].
- [47] SKA COSMOLOGY SWG collaboration, Overview of Cosmology with the SKA, PoS AASKA14 (2015) 016 [arXiv:1501.04076] [INSPIRE].
- [48] SKA collaboration, Cosmology with Phase 1 of the Square Kilometre Array: Red Book 2018: Technical specifications and performance forecasts, Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 37 (2020) e007 [arXiv:1811.02743] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Y. Wang et al., ATLAS Probe: Breakthrough Science of Galaxy Evolution, Cosmology, Milky Way, and the Solar System, Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 36 (2019) e015 [arXiv:1802.01539]
 [INSPIRE].
- [50] Y. Wang et al., ATLAS Probe: Breakthrough Science of Galaxy Evolution, Cosmology, Milky Way, and the Solar System, arXiv:1909.00070 [INSPIRE].
- [51] N. Bellomo et al., CLASS_GWB: robust modeling of the astrophysical gravitational wave background anisotropies, JCAP 06 (2022) 030 [arXiv:2110.15059] [INSPIRE].
- [52] N. Bellomo et al., Beware of commonly used approximations. Part I. Errors in forecasts, JCAP 10 (2020) 016 [arXiv:2005.10384] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.L. Bernal, N. Bellomo, A. Raccanelli and L. Verde, Beware of commonly used approximations. Part II. Estimating systematic biases in the best-fit parameters, JCAP 10 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.09666] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Bertacca et al., Projection effects on the observed angular spectrum of the astrophysical stochastic gravitational wave background, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 103513 [arXiv:1909.11627]
 [INSPIRE].
- [55] C. Bonvin and R. Durrer, What galaxy surveys really measure, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 063505 [arXiv:1105.5280] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Challinor and A. Lewis, The linear power spectrum of observed source number counts, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 043516 [arXiv:1105.5292] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Jeong, F. Schmidt and C.M. Hirata, Large-scale clustering of galaxies in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 023504 [arXiv:1107.5427] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Raccanelli et al., A reassessment of the evidence of the Integrated Sachs-Wolfe effect through the WMAP-NVSS correlation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 386 (2008) 2161 [arXiv:0802.0084] [INSPIRE].
- [59] A. Pullen, T.-C. Chang, O. Doré and A. Lidz, Cross-correlations as a carbon monoxide detector, Astrophys. J. 768 (2013) 15 [arXiv:1211.1397] [INSPIRE].
- [60] D. Blas, J. Lesgourgues and T. Tram, *The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS)* II: Approximation schemes, JCAP **07** (2011) 034 [arXiv:1104.2933] [INSPIRE].
- [61] E. Di Dio, F. Montanari, J. Lesgourgues and R. Durrer, The CLASSgal code for Relativistic Cosmological Large Scale Structure, JCAP 11 (2013) 044 [arXiv:1307.1459] [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Matsubara, The gravitational lensing in redshift-space correlation functions of galaxies and quasars, Astrophys. J. Lett. 537 (2000) L77 [astro-ph/0004392] [INSPIRE].
- [63] L. Hui, E. Gaztañaga and M. LoVerde, Anisotropic Magnification Distortion of the 3D Galaxy Correlation. 1. Real Space, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 103502 [arXiv:0706.1071] [INSPIRE].
- [64] J. Liu et al., The Impact of Magnification and Size Bias on Weak Lensing Power Spectrum and Peak Statistics, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 023515 [arXiv:1310.7517] [INSPIRE].

- [65] F. Montanari and R. Durrer, Measuring the lensing potential with tomographic galaxy number counts, JCAP 10 (2015) 070 [arXiv:1506.01369] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D. Bertacca, R. Maartens, A. Raccanelli and C. Clarkson, Beyond the plane-parallel and Newtonian approach: Wide-angle redshift distortions and convergence in general relativity, JCAP 10 (2012) 025 [arXiv:1205.5221] [INSPIRE].
- [67] SDSS collaboration, Calibrating photometric redshifts of luminous red galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 359 (2005) 237 [astro-ph/0407594] [INSPIRE].
- [68] Z.-M. Ma, W. Hu and D. Huterer, Effect of photometric redshift uncertainties on weak lensing tomography, Astrophys. J. 636 (2005) 21 [astro-ph/0506614] [INSPIRE].
- [69] D. Huterer, M. Takada, G. Bernstein and B. Jain, Systematic errors in future weak lensing surveys: Requirements and prospects for self-calibration, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 366 (2006) 101 [astro-ph/0506030] [INSPIRE].
- [70] F. Calore et al., Cross-correlating galaxy catalogs and gravitational waves: a tomographic approach, Phys. Rev. Res. 2 (2020) 023314 [arXiv:2002.02466] [INSPIRE].
- [71] R.A. Fisher, The Fiducial Argument in Statistical Inference, Annals Eugen. 6 (1935) 391 [INSPIRE].
- [72] E.F. Bunn, Statistical analysis of cosmic microwave background anisotropy, Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A. (1995).
- [73] M.S. Vogeley and A.S. Szalay, Eigenmode analysis of galaxy redshift surveys I. theory and methods, Astrophys. J. 465 (1996) 34 [astro-ph/9601185] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M. Tegmark, A. Taylor and A. Heavens, Karhunen-Loève eigenvalue problems in cosmology: How should we tackle large data sets?, Astrophys. J. 480 (1997) 22 [astro-ph/9603021]
 [INSPIRE].
- [75] G.W. Horndeski, Second-order scalar-tensor field equations in a four-dimensional space, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 10 (1974) 363 [INSPIRE].
- [76] C. Deffayet, S. Deser and G. Esposito-Farèse, Generalized Galileons: All scalar models whose curved background extensions maintain second-order field equations and stress-tensors, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 064015 [arXiv:0906.1967] [INSPIRE].
- [77] T. Kobayashi, M. Yamaguchi and J. Yokoyama, Generalized G-inflation: Inflation with the most general second-order field equations, Prog. Theor. Phys. 126 (2011) 511 [arXiv:1105.5723] [INSPIRE].
- [78] J. Gleyzes, D. Langlois, F. Piazza and F. Vernizzi, Healthy theories beyond Horndeski, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 211101 [arXiv:1404.6495] [INSPIRE].
- [79] T. Kobayashi, Horndeski theory and beyond: a review, Rept. Prog. Phys. 82 (2019) 086901
 [arXiv:1901.07183] [INSPIRE].
- [80] E. Bellini, A.J. Cuesta, R. Jimenez and L. Verde, Constraints on deviations from ΛCDM within Horndeski gravity, JCAP 02 (2016) 053 [Erratum ibid. 06 (2016) E01] [arXiv:1509.07816] [INSPIRE].
- [81] P. Creminelli and F. Vernizzi, Dark Energy after GW170817 and GRB170817A, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 251302 [arXiv:1710.05877] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J.M. Ezquiaga and M. Zumalacárregui, Dark Energy After GW170817: Dead Ends and the Road Ahead, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 251304 [arXiv:1710.05901] [INSPIRE].
- [83] T. Baker et al., Strong constraints on cosmological gravity from GW170817 and GRB 170817A, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 251301 [arXiv:1710.06394] [INSPIRE].
- [84] P. Creminelli, G. D'Amico, J. Noreña and F. Vernizzi, *The Effective Theory of Quintessence:* the w < -1 Side Unveiled, JCAP 02 (2009) 018 [arXiv:0811.0827] [INSPIRE].

- [85] G. Gubitosi, F. Piazza and F. Vernizzi, The Effective Field Theory of Dark Energy, JCAP 02 (2013) 032 [arXiv:1210.0201] [INSPIRE].
- [86] J.K. Bloomfield, É.É. Flanagan, M. Park and S. Watson, Dark energy or modified gravity? An effective field theory approach, JCAP 08 (2013) 010 [arXiv:1211.7054] [INSPIRE].
- [87] J. Gleyzes, D. Langlois, F. Piazza and F. Vernizzi, Essential Building Blocks of Dark Energy, JCAP 08 (2013) 025 [arXiv:1304.4840] [INSPIRE].
- [88] J. Bloomfield, A Simplified Approach to General Scalar-Tensor Theories, JCAP 12 (2013) 044 [arXiv:1304.6712] [INSPIRE].
- [89] F. Piazza, H. Steigerwald and C. Marinoni, *Phenomenology of dark energy: exploring the space of theories with future redshift surveys*, *JCAP* **05** (2014) 043 [arXiv:1312.6111] [INSPIRE].
- [90] E. Bellini and I. Sawicki, Maximal freedom at minimum cost: linear large-scale structure in general modifications of gravity, JCAP **07** (2014) 050 [arXiv:1404.3713] [INSPIRE].
- [91] L. Amendola, M. Kunz and D. Sapone, Measuring the dark side (with weak lensing), JCAP 04 (2008) 013 [arXiv:0704.2421] [INSPIRE].
- [92] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, Chameleon fields: Awaiting surprises for tests of gravity in space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 171104 [astro-ph/0309300] [INSPIRE].
- [93] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, Chameleon cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 044026 [astro-ph/0309411] [INSPIRE].
- [94] K. Hinterbichler and J. Khoury, Symmetron Fields: Screening Long-Range Forces Through Local Symmetry Restoration, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010) 231301 [arXiv:1001.4525] [INSPIRE].
- [95] P. Brax et al., Nonlinear Structure Formation with the Environmentally Dependent Dilaton, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 104026 [arXiv:1102.3692] [INSPIRE].
- [96] E. Babichev, C. Deffayet and R. Ziour, k-Mouflage gravity, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 18 (2009) 2147 [arXiv:0905.2943] [INSPIRE].
- [97] A.I. Vainshtein, To the problem of nonvanishing gravitation mass, Phys. Lett. B **39** (1972) 393 [INSPIRE].
- [98] G.-B. Zhao et al., Probing modifications of General Relativity using current cosmological observations, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 103510 [arXiv:1003.0001] [INSPIRE].
- [99] D. Alonso, E. Bellini, P.G. Ferreira and M. Zumalacárregui, Observational future of cosmological scalar-tensor theories, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 063502 [arXiv:1610.09290] [INSPIRE].
- [100] A. Spurio Mancini et al., Testing (modified) gravity with 3D and tomographic cosmic shear, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 480 (2018) 3725 [arXiv:1801.04251] [INSPIRE].
- [101] A. Raccanelli et al., Cosmological Measurements with Forthcoming Radio Continuum Surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 424 (2012) 801 [arXiv:1108.0930] [INSPIRE].
- [102] T. Baker and P. Bull, Observational signatures of modified gravity on ultra-large scales, Astrophys. J. 811 (2015) 116 [arXiv:1506.00641] [INSPIRE].
- [103] Z. Sakr and M. Martinelli, Cosmological constraints on sub-horizon scales modified gravity theories with MGCLASS II, JCAP 05 (2022) 030 [arXiv:2112.14175] [INSPIRE].
- [104] G.R. Dvali, G. Gabadadze and M. Porrati, 4-D gravity on a brane in 5-D Minkowski space, Phys. Lett. B 485 (2000) 208 [hep-th/0005016] [INSPIRE].
- [105] C. Deffayet, Cosmology on a brane in Minkowski bulk, Phys. Lett. B 502 (2001) 199
 [hep-th/0010186] [INSPIRE].
- [106] M.A. Luty, M. Porrati and R. Rattazzi, Strong interactions and stability in the DGP model, JHEP 09 (2003) 029 [hep-th/0303116] [INSPIRE].

- [107] C. Charmousis, R. Gregory, N. Kaloper and A. Padilla, DGP Specteroscopy, JHEP 10 (2006) 066 [hep-th/0604086] [INSPIRE].
- [108] K. Koyama, Ghosts in the self-accelerating universe, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) R231 [arXiv:0709.2399] [INSPIRE].
- [109] L. Lombriser, W. Hu, W. Fang and U. Seljak, Cosmological Constraints on DGP Braneworld Gravity with Brane Tension, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 063536 [arXiv:0905.1112] [INSPIRE].
- [110] A. Raccanelli et al., Testing Gravity Using Large-Scale Redshift-Space Distortions, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 436 (2013) 89 [arXiv:1207.0500] [INSPIRE].
- [111] L. Xu, Confronting DGP braneworld gravity with cosmico observations after Planck data, JCAP
 02 (2014) 048 [arXiv:1312.4679] [INSPIRE].
- [112] A. Barreira, A.G. Sánchez and F. Schmidt, Validating estimates of the growth rate of structure with modified gravity simulations, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 084022 [arXiv:1605.03965]
 [INSPIRE].
- [113] L. Piga et al., Constraints on modified gravity from the BOSS galaxy survey, JCAP 04 (2023)
 038 [arXiv:2211.12523] [INSPIRE].
- [114] C. Hernández-Aguayo, C. Arnold, B. Li and C.M. Baugh, Galaxy formation in the brane world *I: overview and first results, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* **503** (2021) 3867 [arXiv:2006.15467] [INSPIRE].
- [115] F. Schmidt, Cosmological Simulations of Normal-Branch Braneworld Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 123003 [arXiv:0910.0235] [INSPIRE].
- [116] A. Lue, R. Scoccimarro and G.D. Starkman, Probing Newton's constant on vast scales: DGP gravity, cosmic acceleration and large scale structure, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 124015 [astro-ph/0401515] [INSPIRE].
- [117] K. Koyama and R. Maartens, Structure formation in the dgp cosmological model, JCAP 01 (2006) 016 [astro-ph/0511634] [INSPIRE].
- [118] L.V. Dall'Armi et al., Primordial black holes in clusters, in preparation.
- [119] M. Sasaki, V. Takhistov, V. Vardanyan and Y.-L. Zhang, Establishing the Nonprimordial Origin of Black Hole-Neutron Star Mergers, Astrophys. J. 931 (2022) 2 [arXiv:2110.09509] [INSPIRE].
- [120] W. Del Pozzo, Measuring the Hubble constant using gravitational waves, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 484 (2014) 012030 [INSPIRE].
- [121] KAGRA et al. collaborations, Population of Merging Compact Binaries Inferred Using Gravitational Waves through GWTC-3, Phys. Rev. X 13 (2023) 011048 [arXiv:2111.03634]
 [INSPIRE].
- [122] S. Bird et al., Did LIGO detect dark matter?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 201301 [arXiv:1603.00464] [INSPIRE].
- [123] S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, The clustering of massive Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter: measuring their mass distribution with Advanced LIGO, Phys. Dark Univ. 15 (2017) 142 [arXiv:1603.05234] [INSPIRE].
- [124] T. Nakamura, M. Sasaki, T. Tanaka and K.S. Thorne, Gravitational waves from coalescing black hole MACHO binaries, Astrophys. J. Lett. 487 (1997) L139 [astro-ph/9708060] [INSPIRE].
- K. Ioka, T. Chiba, T. Tanaka and T. Nakamura, Black hole binary formation in the expanding universe: Three body problem approximation, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 063003
 [astro-ph/9807018] [INSPIRE].
- M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial Black Hole Scenario for the Gravitational-Wave Event GW150914, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 061101 [Erratum ibid. 121 (2018) 059901] [arXiv:1603.08338] [INSPIRE].

- [127] Y. Ali-Haïmoud, E.D. Kovetz and M. Kamionkowski, Merger rate of primordial black-hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 123523 [arXiv:1709.06576] [INSPIRE].
- [128] M. Raidal, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Gravitational Waves from Primordial Black Hole Mergers, JCAP 09 (2017) 037 [arXiv:1707.01480] [INSPIRE].
- [129] M. Raidal, C. Spethmann, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Formation and Evolution of Primordial Black Hole Binaries in the Early Universe, JCAP 02 (2019) 018 [arXiv:1812.01930] [INSPIRE].
- [130] G. Ballesteros, P.D. Serpico and M. Taoso, On the merger rate of primordial black holes: effects of nearest neighbours distribution and clustering, JCAP 10 (2018) 043 [arXiv:1807.02084]
 [INSPIRE].
- [131] V. De Luca, V. Desjacques, G. Franciolini and A. Riotto, The clustering evolution of primordial black holes, JCAP 11 (2020) 028 [arXiv:2009.04731] [INSPIRE].
- [132] J. Garriga and N. Triantafyllou, Enhanced cosmological perturbations and the merger rate of PBH binaries, JCAP 09 (2019) 043 [arXiv:1907.01455] [INSPIRE].
- [133] K. Hayasaki, K. Takahashi, Y. Sendouda and S. Nagataki, Rapid merger of binary primordial black holes: An implication for GW150914, Publ. Astron. Soc. Jap. 68 (2016) 66 [arXiv:0909.1738] [INSPIRE].
- [134] V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, P. Pani and A. Riotto, Primordial Black Holes Confront LIGO/Virgo data: Current situation, JCAP 06 (2020) 044 [arXiv:2005.05641] [INSPIRE].
- [135] A. Hall, A.D. Gow and C.T. Byrnes, Bayesian analysis of LIGO-Virgo mergers: Primordial vs. astrophysical black hole populations, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123524 [arXiv:2008.13704]
 [INSPIRE].
- [136] G. Hütsi, M. Raidal, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Two populations of LIGO-Virgo black holes, JCAP 03 (2021) 068 [arXiv:2012.02786] [INSPIRE].
- [137] K. Jedamzik, Primordial Black Hole Dark Matter and the LIGO/Virgo observations, JCAP 09 (2020) 022 [arXiv:2006.11172] [INSPIRE].
- [138] K. Jedamzik, Consistency of Primordial Black Hole Dark Matter with LIGO/Virgo Merger Rates, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 051302 [arXiv:2007.03565] [INSPIRE].
- [139] F. Iacovelli, M. Mancarella, S. Foffa and M. Maggiore, Forecasting the Detection Capabilities of Third-generation Gravitational-wave Detectors Using GWFAST, Astrophys. J. 941 (2022) 208 [arXiv:2207.02771] [INSPIRE].
- [140] N. Kaiser, Weak lensing and cosmology, Astrophys. J. 498 (1998) 26 [astro-ph/9610120]
 [INSPIRE].
- [141] M. LoVerde and N. Afshordi, Extended Limber Approximation, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 123506 [arXiv:0809.5112] [INSPIRE].
- [142] S. Libanore, M. Liguori and A. Raccanelli, Signatures of primordial black holes in gravitational wave clustering, JCAP 08 (2023) 055 [arXiv:2306.03087] [INSPIRE].
- [143] M. Zumalacárregui and U. Seljak, Limits on stellar-mass compact objects as dark matter from gravitational lensing of type Ia supernovae, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 141101 [arXiv:1712.02240] [INSPIRE].
- [144] T.D. Brandt, Constraints on MACHO Dark Matter from Compact Stellar Systems in Ultra-Faint Dwarf Galaxies, Astrophys. J. Lett. 824 (2016) L31 [arXiv:1605.03665] [INSPIRE].
- [145] S.M. Koushiappas and A. Loeb, Dynamics of Dwarf Galaxies Disfavor Stellar-Mass Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 041102 [arXiv:1704.01668] [INSPIRE].

- [146] MUSE collaboration, The MUSE-Faint survey: I. Spectroscopic evidence for a star cluster in Eridanus 2 and constraints on MACHOs as a constituent of dark matter, Astron. Astrophys.
 635 (2020) A107 [arXiv:2001.08790] [INSPIRE].
- [147] N. Afshordi, P. McDonald and D.N. Spergel, Primordial black holes as dark matter: The Power spectrum and evaporation of early structures, Astrophys. J. Lett. 594 (2003) L71
 [astro-ph/0302035] [INSPIRE].
- [148] R. Murgia, G. Scelfo, M. Viel and A. Raccanelli, Lyman-α Forest Constraints on Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 071102 [arXiv:1903.10509] [INSPIRE].
- [149] M.A. Monroy-Rodríguez and C. Allen, The end of the MACHO era- revisited: new limits on MACHO masses from halo wide binaries, Astrophys. J. 790 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1406.5169] [INSPIRE].
- [150] Y. Ali-Haïmoud and M. Kamionkowski, Cosmic microwave background limits on accreting primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043534 [arXiv:1612.05644] [INSPIRE].
- [151] V. Poulin et al., CMB bounds on disk-accreting massive primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 083524 [arXiv:1707.04206] [INSPIRE].
- [152] P.D. Serpico, V. Poulin, D. Inman and K. Kohri, Cosmic microwave background bounds on primordial black holes including dark matter halo accretion, Phys. Rev. Res. 2 (2020) 023204 [arXiv:2002.10771] [INSPIRE].
- [153] J. Luis Bernal, N. Bellomo, A. Raccanelli and L. Verde, Cosmological implications of Primordial Black Holes, JCAP 10 (2017) 052 [arXiv:1709.07465] [INSPIRE].
- [154] D. Gaggero et al., Searching for Primordial Black Holes in the radio and X-ray sky, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 241101 [arXiv:1612.00457] [INSPIRE].
- [155] J. Manshanden et al., Multi-wavelength astronomical searches for primordial black holes, JCAP 06 (2019) 026 [arXiv:1812.07967] [INSPIRE].
- [156] A. Hektor, G. Hütsi and M. Raidal, Constraints on primordial black hole dark matter from Galactic center X-ray observations, Astron. Astrophys. 618 (2018) A139 [arXiv:1805.06513]
 [INSPIRE].
- [157] A. Hektor et al., Constraining Primordial Black Holes with the EDGES 21-cm Absorption Signal, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 023503 [arXiv:1803.09697] [INSPIRE].
- [158] G. Hütsi, M. Raidal and H. Veermäe, Small-scale structure of primordial black hole dark matter and its implications for accretion, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 083016 [arXiv:1907.06533]
 [INSPIRE].
- [159] O. Mena, S. Palomares-Ruiz, P. Villanueva-Domingo and S.J. Witte, Constraining the primordial black hole abundance with 21-cm cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 043540 [arXiv:1906.07735] [INSPIRE].
- [160] L. Piga et al., The effect of outflows on CMB bounds from Primordial Black Hole accretion, JCAP 12 (2022) 016 [arXiv:2210.14934] [INSPIRE].
- [161] N. Bellomo, J.L. Bernal, A. Raccanelli and L. Verde, Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter: Converting Constraints from Monochromatic to Extended Mass Distributions, JCAP 01 (2018) 004 [arXiv:1709.07467] [INSPIRE].
- [162] S. Borhanian, GWBENCH: a novel Fisher information package for gravitational-wave benchmarking, Class. Quant. Grav. 38 (2021) 175014 [arXiv:2010.15202] [INSPIRE].
- [163] S.E. Gossan, E.D. Hall and S.M. Nissanke, Optimizing the Third Generation of Gravitational-wave Observatories for Galactic Astrophysics, Astrophys. J. 926 (2022) 231 [arXiv:2110.15322] [INSPIRE].

- [164] T. Chiba and S. Yokoyama, Spin Distribution of Primordial Black Holes, PTEP 2017 (2017) 083E01 [arXiv:1704.06573] [INSPIRE].
- [165] M. Mirbabayi, A. Gruzinov and J. Noreña, Spin of Primordial Black Holes, JCAP 03 (2020) 017 [arXiv:1901.05963] [INSPIRE].
- [166] V. De Luca et al., The initial spin probability distribution of primordial black holes, JCAP 05 (2019) 018 [arXiv:1903.01179] [INSPIRE].
- [167] A. Rodríguez-Puebla et al., Halo and subhalo demographics with Planck cosmological parameters: Bolshoi-Planck and MultiDark-Planck simulations, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 462 (2016) 893 [arXiv:1602.04813] [INSPIRE].
- [168] P. Behroozi, R.H. Wechsler, A.P. Hearin and C. Conroy, UniverseMachine: The correlation between galaxy growth and dark matter halo assembly from z = 0-10, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 488 (2019) 3143 [arXiv:1806.07893] [INSPIRE].
- [169] J.F. Navarro, C.S. Frenk and S.D.M. White, The Structure of cold dark matter halos, Astrophys. J. 462 (1996) 563 [astro-ph/9508025] [INSPIRE].
- [170] F. Prada et al., Halo concentrations in the standard LCDM cosmology, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 423 (2012) 3018 [arXiv:1104.5130] [INSPIRE].
- [171] A.D. Ludlow et al., The mass-concentration-redshift relation of cold and warm dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 460 (2016) 1214 [arXiv:1601.02624] [INSPIRE].
- [172] O. Lahav, P.B. Lilje, J.R. Primack and M.J. Rees, Dynamical effects of the cosmological constant, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 251 (1991) 128 [INSPIRE].
- [173] S.M. Carroll, W.H. Press and E.L. Turner, The Cosmological constant, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 30 (1992) 499 [INSPIRE].
- [174] Y.-Y. Mao et al., Halo-to-Halo Similarity and Scatter in the Velocity Distribution of Dark Matter, Astrophys. J. 764 (2013) 35 [arXiv:1210.2721] [INSPIRE].
- [175] I. Cholis et al., Orbital eccentricities in primordial black hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 084013 [arXiv:1606.07437] [INSPIRE].
- [176] G.D. Quinlan and S.L. Shapiro, Dynamical evolution of dense clusters of compact stars, Astrophys. J. 343 (1989) 725.